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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

  

FORM 10-Q
  
 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2011

OR
 
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934

For the transition period from                 to                

Commission file number 001-33812
  

MSCI INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

  
 

Delaware  13-4038723
(State of Incorporation)

 
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

One Chase Manhattan Plaza, 44  Floor
New York, New York  10005

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)  (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (212) 804-3900
  
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days.    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes   ☒    No   ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
 
Large accelerated filer  ☒   Accelerated filer  ☐

Non-accelerated filer  ☐  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)   Smaller reporting company  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).      Yes   ☐    No   ☒

As of August 1, 2011, there were 120,464,893 shares of the Registrant’s class A common stock, $0.01 par value, outstanding and no shares of Registrant’s class B
common stock, $0.01 par value, outstanding.
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

MSCI Inc. files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). You
may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330 for information on the public reference room. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and
information statements and other information that issuers (including MSCI Inc.) file electronically with the SEC. MSCI Inc.’s electronic SEC filings are available
to the public at the SEC’s internet site, www.sec.gov.

MSCI Inc.’s internet site is www.msci.com. You can access MSCI Inc.’s Investor Relations webpage at http://ir.msci.com. MSCI Inc. makes available free of
charge, on or through its Investor Relations webpage, its proxy statements, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. MSCI Inc. also makes available, through its Investor Relations
webpage, via a link to the SEC’s internet site, statements of beneficial ownership of MSCI Inc.’s equity securities filed by its directors, officers, 10% or greater
shareholders and others under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

MSCI Inc. has a Corporate Governance webpage. You can access information about MSCI Inc.’s corporate governance at http://ir.msci.com/governance.cfm.
MSCI Inc. posts the following on its Corporate Governance webpage:
 

 •  Charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee;
 

 •  Corporate Governance Policies; and
 

 •  Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.

MSCI Inc.’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct applies to all directors, officers and employees, including its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial
Officer. MSCI Inc. will post any amendments to the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and any waivers that are required to be disclosed by the rules of either
the SEC or the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (“NYSE”) on its internet site. You can request a copy of these documents, excluding exhibits, at no cost, by
contacting Investor Relations, One Chase Manhattan Plaza, 44  Floor, New York, NY 10005; (212) 804-1583. The information on MSCI Inc.’s internet site is not
incorporated by reference into this report.
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PART I
 
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

MSCI INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
   As of  

   
June 30,

2011   
November 30,

2010  
   (unaudited)  
ASSETS    
Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 175,895   $ 226,575  
Short-term investments    111,167    73,891  
Trade receivables (net of allowances of $886 and $1,013 as of June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, respectively)    177,189    147,662  
Deferred taxes    40,136    47,811  
Prepaid taxes    35,675    21,010  
Prepaid and other assets    21,258    19,334  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    561,320    536,283  
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements (net of accumulated depreciation of $54,999 and $41,573 at June 30, 2011 and

November 30, 2010, respectively)    36,075    34,368  
Goodwill    1,708,585    1,706,671  
Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization of $229,304 and $190,311 at June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010,

respectively)    677,571    716,250  
Other non-current assets    26,036    29,594  

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $3,009,587   $3,023,166  
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    
Accounts payable   $ 625   $ 2,162  
Accrued compensation and related benefits    61,464    99,046  
Other accrued liabilities    54,353    39,500  
Current maturities of long-term debt    10,331    54,916  
Deferred revenue    296,793    271,300  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    423,566    466,924  
Long-term debt, net of current maturities    1,106,700    1,207,881  
Deferred taxes    241,538    240,944  
Other non-current liabilities    28,738    27,300  

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    1,800,542    1,943,049  
    

 
   

 

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 10)    
Shareholders’ equity:    
Preferred stock (par value $0.01; 100,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued)    —      —    
Common stock (par value $0.01; 500,000,000 class A shares and 250,000,000 class B shares authorized; 121,610,941 and

120,544,551 class A shares issued and 120,462,507 and 119,522,043 class A shares outstanding at June 30, 2011 and
November 30, 2010, respectively; no class B shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010,
respectively)    1,216    1,205  

Treasury shares, at cost (1,148,434 and 1,022,508 shares at June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, respectively)    (38,115)   (33,319) 
Additional paid in capital    976,667    938,014  
Retained earnings    269,188    176,183  
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss)    89    (1,966) 

    
 

   
 

Total shareholders’ equity    1,209,045    1,080,117  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $3,009,587   $3,023,166  
    

 

   

 

See Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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MSCI INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share data)
 

 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   May 31,   June 30,   May 31,  

   2011   2010   2011   2010  
   (unaudited)  
Operating revenues   $226,483   $125,170   $449,781   $246,850  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Cost of services    68,840    30,463    139,058    59,754  
Selling, general and administrative    53,321    40,177    104,739    77,638  
Restructuring    40    —      4,471    —    
Amortization of intangible assets    16,423    4,277    33,115    8,555  
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and leasehold improvements    5,168    3,556    10,278    6,949  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    143,792    78,473    291,661    152,896  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income    82,691    46,697    158,120    93,954  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Interest income    (186)   (343)   (329)   (751) 
Interest expense    12,852    8,991    29,439    13,427  
Other expense (income)    383    98    6,024    (510) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Other expense (income), net    13,049    8,746    35,134    12,166  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income before provision for income taxes    69,642    37,951    122,986    81,788  
Provision for income taxes    23,982    13,884    43,805    30,203  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 45,660   $ 24,067   $ 79,181   $ 51,585  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Earnings per basic common share   $ 0.38   $ 0.23   $ 0.65   $ 0.48  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Earnings per diluted common share   $ 0.37   $ 0.22   $ 0.64   $ 0.48  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing earnings per share      
Basic    120,592    105,345    120,438    105,290  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Diluted    122,235    106,003    122,125    105,923  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

See Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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MSCI INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 
   Six Months Ended  

 
  June 30,   May 31,  
  2011   2010  

   (unaudited)  
Cash flows from operating activities    

Net income   $ 79,181   $ 51,585  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Amortization of intangible assets    33,115    8,555  
Share-based compensation    16,462    10,486  
Depreciation of property, equipment and leasehold improvements    10,278    6,949  
Amortization of debt origination fees    3,127    3,429  
Deferred taxes    4,226    (4,583) 
Amortization of discount on long-term debt    571    500  
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation    (3,763)   (1,463) 
Other non-cash adjustments    1,049    524  

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of assets and liabilities acquired:    
Trade receivables    (37,957)   (17,143) 
Prepaid income taxes    (11,918)   (4,682) 
Prepaid and other assets    (3,549)   1,474  
Accounts payable    432    (1,335)
Deferred revenue    26,796    32,834  
Accrued compensation and related benefits    (38,862)   (26,973) 
Other accrued liabilities    1,528    (2,215) 
Other    (470)   (2,838)

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    80,246    55,104  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Proceeds from redemption of short-term investments    71,181    347,114  
Purchase of investments    (109,427)   (112,556) 
Capital expenditures    (6,732)   (4,696) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities    (44,978)   229,862  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Repayment of long-term debt    (1,271,438)   (309,640) 
Proceeds from borrowing    1,125,000    —    
Repurchase of treasury shares    (2,914)   (2,450) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    12,615    2,214  
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation    3,763    1,463  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (132,974)   (308,413) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes    4,178    (429)
    

 
   

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash    (93,528)   (23,876) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    269,423    176,024  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 175,895   $ 152,148  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:    
Cash paid for interest   $ 29,906   $ 8,559  

    

 

   

 

Cash paid for income taxes   $ 52,825   $ 36,964  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities:    
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements in other accrued liabilities   $ 5,356   $ 3,405  

    

 

   

 

See Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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MSCI INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

1. INTRODUCTION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

MSCI Inc. together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company” or “MSCI”) is a global provider of investment decision support tools worldwide,
including indices, portfolio risk and performance analytics and corporate governance products and services. The Company’s flagship products are its global
equity indices and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) products marketed under the MSCI brand, its portfolio risk and performance analytics covering
global equity and fixed income markets marketed under the Barra brand, its market and credit risk analytics marketed under the RiskMetrics and Barra brands, its
governance research and outsourced proxy voting and reporting services marketed under the ISS brand, its valuation models and risk management software for
the energy and commodities markets marketed under the FEA brand and its forensic accounting risk research, legal and regulatory risk assessment and due
diligence products marketed under the CFRA brand.

MSCI operates as two segments, the Performance and Risk business and the Governance business. The Performance and Risk business is a global provider
of investment decision support tools, including indices, portfolio risk and performance analytics, credit analytics and ESG products. The Governance business,
which was included in MSCI’s operations following MSCI’s acquisition of RiskMetrics Group, Inc. (“RiskMetrics”), is a provider of corporate governance and
specialized financial research and analysis services to institutional shareholders and corporations around the world. (See Note 3, “Acquisitions,” and Note 14,
“Segment Information,” for further information about MSCI’s acquisitions and operating segments.)

Change in Fiscal Year End

On December 8, 2010, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a change in the Company’s fiscal year end from November 30 to December 31 of
each year. This change to the calendar year reporting cycle began January 1, 2011.

Financial information for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2010 has not been included in this Form 10-Q for the following reasons: (i) the
three months and six months ended May 31, 2010, respectively, provide a meaningful comparison for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, respectively;
(ii) there are no significant factors, seasonal or other, that would impact the comparability of information if the results for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2010, respectively, were presented in lieu of results for the three and six months ended May 31, 2010, respectively; and (iii) it was not practicable or cost
justified to prepare this information.

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries and include all adjustments of a
normal, recurring nature necessary to present fairly the financial condition as of June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, the results of operations for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 and cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010. The accompanying condensed
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes included in MSCI’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2010. The condensed consolidated financial statement information as of November 30, 2010 has been
derived from the 2010 audited consolidated financial statements. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results for the
entire year.

The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require the Company to make certain estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods
presented. Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include the deferral and recognition of income, the allowance for doubtful accounts,
impairment of long-lived assets, accounting for income taxes and other matters that affect the condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
The Company believes that estimates used in the preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements are reasonable; however, actual results could
differ materially from these estimates.

Inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Concentration of Credit Risk
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MSCI INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 

The Company licenses its products and services primarily to investment managers principally in the United States, Europe and Asia. The Company
evaluates the credit of its customers and does not require collateral. The Company maintains reserves on customer accounts where estimated losses may result
from the inability of its customers to make required payments.

Financial instruments that may potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash deposits and short-term
investments. At June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, cash and cash equivalents held primarily on deposit were $175.9 million and $226.6 million,
respectively. At June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, the Company had invested $111.2 million and $73.9 million, respectively, in debt securities with maturity
dates ranging from 91 to 365 days from the date of purchase.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, no single customer accounted for 10.0% or more of the Company’s operating revenues. For the three and
six months ended May 31, 2010, BlackRock Inc. accounted for 12.4% and 12.5% of the Company’s operating revenues, respectively.

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATES

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-13, “Revenue Recognition
(Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements,” or ASU No. 2009-13. ASU No. 2009-13 addresses how to determine whether an arrangement
involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting and how the arrangement consideration should be allocated among the separate units of
accounting. The adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-14, “Software (Topic 985): Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include Software Elements,” or ASU
No. 2009-14. ASU No. 2009-14 modifies the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance to exclude (a) non-software components of tangible products
and (b) software components of tangible products that are sold, licensed or leased with tangible products when the software components and non-software
components of the tangible product function together to deliver the tangible product’s essential functionality. The adoption of ASU 2009-14 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-28, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350),” or ASU 2010-28. This ASU amends ASC Topic
350. ASU 2010-28 clarifies the requirement to test for impairment of goodwill. ASC Topic 350 has required that goodwill be tested for impairment if the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Under ASU 2010-28, when the carrying amount of a reporting unit is zero or negative an entity must assume that
it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists, perform an additional test to determine whether goodwill has been impaired and calculate the amount
of that impairment. The modifications to ASC Topic 350 resulting from the issuance of ASU 2010-28 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2010 and interim periods within those years. The adoption of ASU 2010-28 did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-29, “Business Combinations (Topic 805) — Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for
Business Combinations,” or ASU 2010-29. This standard update clarifies that, when presenting comparative financial statements, SEC registrants should disclose
revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the current period business combinations had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual
reporting period only. The update also expands the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a description of the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring
pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. ASU 2010-29 is effective
prospectively for material (either on an individual or aggregate basis) business combinations entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2010.
The adoption of ASU 2010-29 did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, “Presentation of Comprehensive Income,” or ASU 2011-5. The issuance of ASU 2011-5 is intended to
improve the comparability, consistency and transparency of financial reporting and to increase the prominence of items reported in other comprehensive
income. The guidance in ASU 2011-5 supersedes the presentation options in ASC Topic 220 and facilitates convergence of U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles and International Financial Reporting Standards by eliminating the option to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the
statement of changes in stockholders’ equity and requiring that all nonowner changes in stockholders’ equity be presented either in a single continuous statement
of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. ASU 2011-5 is effective for interim periods and years beginning after December 15,
2011 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU No. 2011-05 on its condensed consolidated financial
statements.
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MSCI INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 
3. ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of RiskMetrics

On June 1, 2010, MSCI acquired RiskMetrics Group, Inc. (“RiskMetrics”). Under the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 28,
2010 by and among MSCI, Crossway Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a wholly owned subsidiary of MSCI, and RiskMetrics, Merger Sub merged with and into RiskMetrics,
with RiskMetrics continuing as the surviving corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of MSCI. MSCI and RiskMetrics began joint operations immediately
after the merger became effective. MSCI acquired RiskMetrics to, among other things, offer clients a more expansive portfolio of investment decision support
tools that will enable clients to understand risk across their entire investment processes as well as reduce the concentration of the Company’s client base beyond
asset owners, asset managers and broker dealers by including a greater number of hedge fund, mutual fund and bank clients.

The total purchase price for RiskMetrics was $1,572.4 million and was comprised of:
 

(in thousands)     
Cash   $1,146,702  
MSCI class A common stock valued using the New York Stock Exchange closing price on

June 1, 2010    371,815  
Fair value of outstanding vested and unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock

awards assumed    53,879  
    

 

Total purchase price   $1,572,396  
    

 

MSCI issued approximately 12.6 million shares of class A common stock (“Common Stock”) and reserved approximately 4.3 million shares of Common
Stock for outstanding vested and unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock awards assumed as part of the acquisition of RiskMetrics.

The fair values of stock options assumed were estimated using a Hull-White Lattice option-pricing model. The fair value of the unearned portion of the
unvested RiskMetrics stock options and restricted stock awards will be recorded as operating expense over the remaining service periods, while the fair values of
the earned portion of the vested and unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock awards are included in the total purchase price.

During the six months ended May 31, 2010, MSCI incurred approximately $7.5 million in transaction related costs related to the acquisition of
RiskMetrics. These costs are reflected in “Selling, general and administrative” on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.

Purchase Price Allocation

The acquisition method of accounting is based on ASC Subtopic 805-10, “Business Combinations,” and uses the fair value concepts defined in ASC
Subtopic 820-10, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” which MSCI has adopted as required. The total purchase price for RiskMetrics was allocated to
the net tangible and intangible assets based upon their fair values as of June 1, 2010 as set forth below. The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of the
net tangible assets and intangible assets was recorded as goodwill. The purchase price allocation for RiskMetrics, which was based upon a valuation, is as
follows:
 

(in thousands)     
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 76,459  
Trade receivables    33,577  
Other assets    32,398  
Goodwill    1,245,862  
Intangible assets    628,120  
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MSCI INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 

Accounts payable and other liabilities    (48,494) 
Debt    (107,485) 
Deferred revenues    (114,686) 
Deferred tax liabilities, net    (173,355) 

    
 

Total purchase price   $1,572,396  
    

 

As a result of the finalization of the acquired income and non-income based tax valuations, Other assets, Goodwill, Accounts payable and other liabilities,
and Deferred tax liabilities, net increased.

MSCI generally does not expect the goodwill recognized to be deductible for income tax purposes. Approximately $1,014.8 million and $231.1 million of
the goodwill was allocated to the Performance and Risk and the Governance segments, respectively. These balances changed from those reported in prior periods
as a result of the finalization of the acquired income and non-income based tax valuations.

Valuations of Intangible Assets Acquired

The following table sets forth the components of intangible assets acquired in connection with the RiskMetrics acquisition:
 

   Estimated Fair Value   Estimated Useful Life 
   (in thousands)      
Customer relationships   $ 428,600     14 to 15 years  
Technology/Software    52,640     3 to 7 years  
Proprietary processes    3,800     6 years  
Trademarks/trade names    140,300     10 to 20 years  
Non-compete agreements    2,780     1.5 years  

    
 

  

Total   $ 628,120    
    

 

  

Actual Impact of RiskMetrics Acquisition

The following table presents the Company’s estimates for information for RiskMetrics from the June 1, 2010 acquisition date that is included in MSCI’s
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income:

RiskMetrics’ Operations Included in MSCI’s Results
 

(in thousands)   

Three Months
Ended

June 30,
2011    

Three Months
Ended

May 31,
2010    

Six Months
Ended

June 30,
2011    

Six Months
Ended

May 31,
2011  

Total revenues   $ 79,144    $ —      $157,284    $ —    
Net income   $ 14,759    $ —      $ 23,067    $ —    

Acquisition of Measurisk
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MSCI INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 

On July 30, 2010, MSCI acquired Measurisk, LLC (“Measurisk”) to expand its product offerings to hedge fund investors. This was not deemed to be an
individually significant acquisition. MSCI has accounted for this acquisition in accordance with the ASC Subtopic 805-10 and has included the financial results
of Measurisk in its consolidated results from the July 30, 2010 acquisition date. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, Measurisk contributed
approximately $4.0 million and $7.1 million to MSCI’s revenue, respectively. Other earnings contributions from Measurisk were not separately identifiable due to
the Company’s integration activities. For the three and six months ended May 31, 2010, Measurisk results were not included in any of MSCI’s revenue or
earnings. The purchase price allocations for this acquisition were $2.3 million for other assets, $9.5 million for identifiable intangible assets, $1.9 million for
other liabilities and $21.1 million for goodwill based upon a valuation and those estimates and assumptions are subject to change as MSCI obtains additional
information during the applicable measurement period.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations for MSCI and RiskMetrics as though the
companies were combined as of December 1, 2009. The pro forma financial information for all periods presented also includes the business combination
accounting effects resulting from the acquisition including the amortization charges from acquired intangible assets, adjustments to interest income for lower
average cash balances, interest expense for borrowings and the amortization of deferred financing fees, debt discounts and prepaid agency fees and the related tax
effects as though the aforementioned companies were combined as of December 1, 2009. No adjustments have been made for the Measurisk acquisition because
it was not deemed to be an individually significant acquisition. The pro forma financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is
not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisitions and any borrowings undertaken to finance the RiskMetrics acquisition
had taken place at December 1, 2009.

The unaudited pro forma financial information for the three months ended May 31, 2010 combine the historical results of MSCI for the three months ended
May 31, 2010 with the historical results of RiskMetrics for the three-month-period ended March 31, 2010 (due to differences in reporting periods), adjusted to
reflect the accounting effects described above. The unaudited pro forma financial information for the six months ended May 31, 2010 combine the historical
results of MSCI for the six months ended May 31, 2010 with the historical results of RiskMetrics for the three-month-period ended December 31, 2009 and the
historical results of RiskMetrics for the three-month-period ended March 31, 2010 (due to differences in reporting periods), adjusted to reflect the accounting
effects described above.

The unaudited pro forma financial information and the effects of the pro forma adjustments described above were as follows for the three and six months
ended May 31, 2010:
 

   

Three Months
Ended

May 31,    

Six Months
Ended

May 31,  
   2010    2010  
(in thousands)   (unaudited)  
Operating revenues   $ 202,216    $400,368  

    
 

    
 

Cost of services    68,429     134,067  
Selling, general and administrative    50,291     100,376  
Amortization of intangible assets    16,180     32,360  
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and leasehold improvements    5,707     11,196  

    
 

    
 

Total operating expenses    140,607     277,999  
    

 
    

 

Operating income    61,609     122,369  
Other expense (income), net    17,881     34,926  

    
 

    
 

Income before provision for income taxes    43,728     87,443  
Provision for income taxes    12,915     28,096  

    
 

    
 

Net income   $ 30,813    $ 59,347  
    

 

    

 

Earnings per diluted common share   $ 0.25    $ 0.48  
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The unaudited pro forma financial information by MSCI’s operating segments’ and the effects of the pro forma adjustments listed above are presented in
the table below (See Note 14, “Segment Information,” for further information about MSCI’s operating segments):
 

   
Three Months Ended

May 31, 2010    
Six Months Ended

May 31, 2010  
   (unaudited)  

(in thousands)   
Performance

and Risk    Governance   Total    
Performance

and Risk    Governance   Total  
Operating revenues   $ 169,945    $ 32,271    $202,216    $ 335,721    $ 64,647    $400,368  
Cost of services    50,892     17,537     68,429     99,713     34,354     134,067  
Selling, general and administrative    43,628     6,663     50,291     86,744     13,632     100,376  
Amortization of intangible assets    12,830     3,350     16,180     25,660     6,700     32,360  
Depreciation expense    4,568     1,139     5,707     9,044     2,152     11,196  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total operating expenses    111,918     28,689     140,607     221,161     56,838     277,999  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Operating income    58,027     3,582     61,609     114,560     7,809     122,369  
Other expense (income), net        17,881         34,926  

        
 

        
 

Income before provision for income taxes        43,728         87,443  
Provision for income taxes        12,915         28,096  

        
 

        
 

Net income       $ 30,813        $ 59,347  
        

 

        

 

4. RESTRUCTURING

During the fiscal year 2010, MSCI’s management approved, committed to and initiated a plan to restructure the Company’s operations due to its acquisition
of RiskMetrics (the “Restructuring Plan”) in order to eliminate overlapping positions, eliminate duplicative occupancy costs, terminate overlapping vendor
contracts and discontinue the planned integration of a product into RiskMetrics’ standard product offering suite. The Company accounts for restructuring costs in
accordance with ASC Subtopic 420-10, “Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations.” The restructuring costs will be recorded to the “Restructuring expense” line item
within the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income as they are recognized. The Company estimates total restructuring costs associated with the
exit of certain leases will be approximately $5 million and anticipates that these costs will be recognized by the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.
The Company is continuing to develop plans for the efficient transitions related to its restructuring activities and evaluate other options. The Company may incur
additional future restructuring costs over the course of the current fiscal year.

The Company recorded $4.5 million of restructuring expenses in connection with the Restructuring Plan during the six months ended June 30, 2011. Of
these amounts, less than $0.1 million were related to the accelerated vesting of share-based compensation awards triggered by the elimination of overlapping
positions and $0.7 million were related to the write-off of assets associated with the exit of certain leases. The accelerated vesting of share-based compensation
awards is not accounted for as a restructuring liability under the line item “Other accrued liabilities” but is instead recorded under the line item “Additional paid
in capital” in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. The Company did not record any restructuring expenses in connection
with the Restructuring Plan during the three and six months ended May 31, 2010, respectively as the plan had not yet been initiated.

Approximately $2.4 million of the restructuring expenses were recorded under the Company’s Performance and Risk operating segment and $2.1 million
were recorded under the Company’s Governance operating segment for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Any changes to the estimates in connection with
executing the Restructuring Plan will be reflected in the Company’s future results of operations.

The table below summarizes the accrual and charges incurred with respect to the Company’s Restructuring Plan that are included in the line items “Other
accrued liabilities” in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as of November 30, 2010 and June 30, 2011:
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MSCI Restructuring Plan  

(in thousands)   Severance  
Lease

termination  Other   Total  
Accrued Balance, November 30, 2010   $ 1,087   $ 1,297   $—      $ 2,384  
Restructuring costs    594    3,160    —       3,754  
Cash payments    (1,151)   (2,018)   —       (3,169) 
Other    —      —      —       —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Accrued Balance, June 30, 2011   $ 530  $ 2,439   $—      $ 2,969  
    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

5. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to MSCI common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Common shares outstanding include common stock and vested restricted stock unit awards where recipients have satisfied either the explicit
vesting terms or retirement-eligibility requirements. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. There were 18,765 and 9,383 anti-
dilutive stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, respectively. There were no anti-dilutive
stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS for the three and six months ended May 31, 2010.

The Company computes EPS using the two-class method and determines whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating
securities. The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted EPS:
 

 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   May 31,   June 30,   May 31,  

   2011   2010   2011   2010  
   (in thousands, except per share data)  
Net income   $ 45,660   $ 24,067   $ 79,181   $ 51,585  
Less: Allocations of earnings to unvested restricted stock units    (433)   (337)   (749)   (722) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Earnings available to MSCI common shareholders   $ 45,227   $ 23,730   $ 78,432   $ 50,863  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding    120,592    105,345    120,438    105,290  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding    120,592    105,345    120,438    105,290  
Effect of dilutive securities:      
Stock options    1,643    658    1,687    633  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding    122,235    106,003    122,125    105,923  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings per basic common share   $ 0.38   $ 0.23   $ 0.65   $ 0.48  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings per diluted common share   $ 0.37   $ 0.22   $ 0.64   $ 0.48  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(1) The restricted stock units participate in all of the earnings of the Company in the computation of basic EPS and, therefore, the restricted stock units are
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 not included as incremental shares in the diluted EPS computation.

6. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The components of comprehensive income are as follows:
 

 
  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   May 31,   June 30,   May 31,  

   2011   2010   2011   2010  
   (in thousands)  
Net income   $45,660   $24,067   $79,181   $51,585  
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:      

Foreign currency translation adjustments    2,234    (200)   4,107    274  
Income tax effect    (875)   57    (1,607)   (107) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   1,359    (143)   2,500    167  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges    (2,515)   4,191    (2,523)   5,379  
Income tax effect    984    (1,638)   987    (2,100) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   (1,531)   2,553    (1,536)   3,279  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Pension and other post-retirement adjustments    (37)   104    (41)   206  
Income tax effect    8    (25)   8    (51) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   (29)   79    (33)   155  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities    1    (210)   1    3  
Income tax effect    —      82    —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   1    (128)   1    2  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax    (200)   2,361    932    3,603  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive income   $45,460   $26,428   $80,113   $55,188  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

7. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments may include U.S. Treasury securities, state and municipal securities and commercial paper with maturity dates ranging from 91 to
365 days from the date of purchase.

The Company classifies its short-term investments as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and
losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Fair value is determined based on observable quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific-identification method. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-
temporary on available-for-sale securities are included as a component of interest income. Interest on securities classified as available-for-sale is included as a
component of interest income.

The fair value and gross unrealized gains and losses of securities available-for-sale as of the dates indicated were as follows:
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(in thousands)   

Amortized
Cost plus
Accrued
Interest    

Gross
unrealized

gains    

Gross
unrealized

losses   

Estimated
Fair
value  

June 30, 2011        
Debt securities available-for-sale        
U.S. Treasury securities   $111,151    $ 18    $ (2)  $111,167  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total   $111,151    $ 18    $ (2)  $111,167  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

November 30, 2010        
Debt securities available-for-sale        
U.S. Treasury securities   $ 66,924    $ 3    $ —     $ 66,927  
Commercial paper    5,350     1     —      5,351  
State and municipal securities    1,612     1     —      1,613  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total   $ 73,886    $ 5    $ —     $ 73,891  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Unrealized Losses on Investments

Investments with continuous unrealized losses for less than 12 months and for 12 months or greater and their related fair values at June 30, 2011 were as
follows:
 
   Less than 12 Months   12 Months or Greater    Total  

(in thousands)   Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses    
Total

Fair Value   

Total
Unrealized

Losses  
U.S. Treasury securities   $ 48,878    $ (2)  $ —      $ —      $ 48,878    $ (2) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 48,878    $ (2)  $ —      $ —      $ 48,878    $ (2) 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The Company had no investments with continuous unrealized losses for less than 12 months and for 12 months or greater at November 30, 2010.

Evaluating Investments for Other-than-Temporary Impairments

If the fair values of the Company’s debt security investments are less than the amortized costs at the balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether the
impairments are other than temporary. The Company currently invests only in U.S. Treasury securities, state and municipal securities and commercial paper with
a short duration (one year or less), it would take a significant decline in fair value and U.S. economic conditions for the Company to determine that these
investments are other than temporarily impaired.

Additionally, management assesses whether it intends to sell or would more-likely-than-not not be required to sell the investment before the expected
recovery of the cost basis. Management has asserted that, given the short maturation period of the Company’s investments, it believes it is more-likely-than-not
that it will not be required to sell the investment before recovery of the cost basis.

As of June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, no other-than-temporary impairment had been recorded on any of the Company’s investments.
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8. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements at June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010 consisted of the following:
 

   As of  

   
June 30,

2011   
November 30,

2010  
   (in thousands)  
Computer & related equipment   $ 60,443   $ 50,557  
Furniture & fixtures    5,041    4,571  
Leasehold improvements    21,516    19,912  
Work-in-process    4,074    901  

    
 

   
 

Subtotal    91,074    75,941  
Accumulated depreciation and amortization    (54,999)   (41,573)

    
 

   
 

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net   $ 36,075   $ 34,368  
    

 
   

 

Depreciation and amortization expense of property, equipment and leasehold improvements was $5.2 million and $3.6 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense of property, equipment and leasehold improvements was $10.3 million and
$6.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively.

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of those definite-lived intangibles from the acquisitions of Barra in June 2004, RiskMetrics in June 2010 and Measurisk in July
2010. The Company amortizes definite-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. Amortizable intangible assets are tested for impairment when
impairment indicators are present, and, if impaired, written down to fair value based on either discounted cash flows or appraised values. No impairment of
intangible assets has been identified during any of the periods presented. The Company has no indefinite-lived intangibles.

Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 was $16.4 million and $4.3 million,
respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 was $33.1 million and $8.6 million,
respectively.

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization totals related to the Company’s identifiable intangible assets are as follows:
 

   

Gross
Carrying

Value    
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying

Value  
   (in thousands)  
As of June 30, 2011      

Customer relationships   $461,690    $ (47,834)  $413,856  
Trademarks/trade names    243,440     (41,388)   202,052  
Technology/software    194,445     (136,668)   57,777  
Proprietary process    3,800     (686)   3,114  
Non-compete agreements    2,780     (2,008)   772  
Transition agreements    720     (720)   —    

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total intangible assets   $906,875    $ (229,304)  $677,571  
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Gross
Carrying

Value    
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying

Value  
   (in thousands)  
As of November 30, 2010      

Customer relationships   $461,690    $ (29,500)  $432,190  
Trademarks/trade names    243,440     (35,381)   208,059  
Technology/software    194,131     (123,824)   70,307  
Proprietary process    3,800     (317)   3,483  
Non-compete agreements    2,780     (929)   1,851  
Transition agreements    720     (360)   360  

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total intangible assets   $906,561    $ (190,311)  $716,250  
    

 

    

 

   

 

The estimated amortization expense for succeeding years is presented below:
 

Fiscal Year   Amortization Expense 
   (in thousands)  
Remainder of 2011   $ 32,690  
2012    63,835  
2013    53,087  
2014    52,864  
2015    52,787  
2016    50,803  
Thereafter    371,505  

    
 

Total   $ 677,571  
    

 

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal matters. From time to time, the Company is party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of its business. The Company is not presently
party to any legal proceedings the resolution of which the Company believes would have a material effect on its business, operating results, financial condition or
cash flows.

Leases. The Company leases facilities under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. The terms of certain lease agreements provide for rental payments
on a graduated basis. The Company recognizes rent expense on the straight-line basis over the lease period and has accrued for rent expense incurred but not
paid. Rent expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 was $4.6 million and $2.9 million, respectively. Rent expense for the six months
ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 was $9.1 million and $5.6 million, respectively.

Long-term debt. On November 14, 2007, the Company entered into a secured $500.0 million credit facility that consisted of a $425.0 million term loan
facility and a $75.0 million revolving credit facility (the “2007 Credit Facility”). On April 1, 2010 and April 15, 2010, the Company prepaid principal balances on
its term loan facility portion of the 2007 Credit Facility of approximately $147.0 million and $150.0 million, respectively. On June 1, 2010, the Company paid
$70.9 million to retire the 2007 Credit Facility.

On June 1, 2010, the Company entered into a senior secured credit agreement with Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent, Morgan
Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as collateral agent, and the other lenders party thereto, which was comprised of (i) a $1,275.0 million six-year term loan facility (the
“2010 Term Loan”) and (ii) a $100.0 million five-year revolving credit facility, which included a $25.0 million letter of credit subfacility and a $10.0 million
swingline loan subfacility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the 2010 Term Loan, the “New Credit Facility”). The Company was required to
repay 1.00% of the principal of the 2010 Term Loan per year in quarterly installments. The New Credit Facility also contained a number of mandatory
prepayment requirements, including a requirement to repay a specified amount of the 2010 Term Loan annually from a portion of the Company’s excess cash
flows (as defined in the New Credit Facility, which varied based on the Company’s leverage ratio). Any remaining principal of the 2010 Term Loan was to be
payable on the final maturity date of the facility. In February 2011, the Company made a prepayment of $56.0 million on the 2010 Term Loan from its excess
cash flows.
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On March 14, 2011, MSCI completed the repricing of the New Credit Facility pursuant to Amendment No. 2 to the New Credit Facility (“Amendment
No. 2”). Amendment No. 2 provided for the incurrence of a new senior secured loan (the “2011 Term Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of $1,125.0
million. The proceeds of the 2011 Term Loan, together with $87.6 million of cash on hand, were used to repay the remaining $1,212.6 million outstanding
balance of the 2010 Term Loan in full. The 2011 Term Loan matures in March 2017. Amendment No. 2 decreased the interest rate applicable to the 2011 Term
Loan from the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 3.25% (with a leverage-based stepdown) to LIBOR plus 2.75% (with a leverage-based stepdown)
and reduced the LIBOR floor applicable to the 2011 Term Loan from 1.50% to 1.00%. Prepayments or amendments of the 2011 Term Loan that constitute a
“repricing transaction” (as defined in Amendment No. 2) will be subject to a premium of 1.00% of the 2011 Term Loan if prepaid or amended on or prior to
March 14, 2012. Prepayments and repricings made after March 14, 2012 will not be subject to premium or penalty. For unused credit under the revolving credit
facility, the Company pays an annual 0.75% non-usage fee. The Company incurred $6.1 million in fees associated with the repricing which are reflected in “other
expense (income)” on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six months ended June 30, 2011.

The obligations under the New Credit Facility, as amended, are guaranteed by each of our direct and indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, subject
to limited exceptions. The obligations under the New Credit Facility, as amended, are secured by a lien on substantially all of the equity interests of MSCI’s
present and future domestic subsidiaries, up to 65% of the equity interests of MSCI’s first-tier foreign subsidiaries, and substantially all of MSCI’s and MSCI’s
domestic subsidiaries’ present and future property and assets, subject to certain exceptions.

In connection with entering into the New Credit Facility, as amended, the Company recorded deferred financing fees which are being amortized over four
to seven years. The Company amortized $1.3 million and $3.1 million of deferred financing fees associated with the New Credit Facility in interest expense
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, respectively. The Company amortized $3.0 million and $3.4 million of deferred financing fees associated
with the 2007 Credit Facility in interest expense during the three and six months ended May 31, 2010, respectively. At June 30, 2011, $27.4 million of the
deferred financing fees remain unamortized, $5.1 million of which is included in “prepaid and other assets” and $22.3 million of which is included in “other non-
current assets” on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

Current maturities of long term debt at June 30, 2011 was $10.3 million, net of a $0.9 million discount. Long term debt, net of current maturities at June 30,
2011 was $1,106.7 million, net of a $4.2 million discount. Approximately $0.2 million and $0.6 million of the debt discount associated with the New Credit
Facility, as amended, was amortized in interest expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011. For the three and six months ended May 31, 2010,
approximately $0.5 million of the debt discount associated with the 2007 Credit Facility was amortized.

The fair market value of the Company’s debt obligations were $1,130.6 million and $1,275.0 million at June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010,
respectively. The fair market value was estimated based on market bid quotes.

Interest Rate Swaps and Derivative Instruments. The Company is exposed to certain risks arising from both its business operations and economic
conditions. The Company principally manages its exposures to a wide variety of business and operational risks through management of its core business
activities. The Company manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of its
debt funding and the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, the Company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise
from business activities that result in the receipt or payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. The
Company’s derivative financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the Company’s known or expected cash
receipts and its known or expected cash payments principally related to the Company’s investments and borrowings.

The Company’s objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements.
To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy. During the six months ending
June 30, 2011, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt. As a result of the repayment of the 2010
Term Loan on March 14, 2011, the Company discontinued prospective hedge accounting on its then-existing interest rate swaps as they no longer met hedge
accounting requirements. The Company will continue to report the net loss related to the discontinued cash flow hedges in Other Comprehensive Income and is
expected to reclassify this amount into earnings during the contractual term of the swap agreements. On March 22, 2011, the Company terminated its then-
existing interest rate swaps and simultaneously entered into new interest rate swaps to hedge its newly issued variable-rate debt. As of June 30, 2011, the
Company had two outstanding interest rate swaps with a combined notional principal amount of $421.9 million that were designated as cash flow hedges of
interest rate risk.
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The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion
of the change in fair value of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings. Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to
derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s variable-rate debt. During the next twelve months, the
Company estimates that an additional $2.5 million will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense.

The following table presents the fair values of the Company’s derivative instruments and the location in which they are presented on the Company’s
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition:
 

(In thousands)   
Condensed Consolidated

Statements of Financial Condition Location   

As of
June 30,

2011   
As of

November 30, 2010 
Liability derivatives:      
Derivatives designated as hedging

instruments:      
Interest rate swaps   Other accrued liabilities   $ (322)  $ (1,772) 

The following tables present the effect of the Company’s derivatives and the location in which they are presented on the Company’s Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income:
 

Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging
Relationships   

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in Accumulated

Other Comprehensive
Income on Derivatives

(Effective Portion) for the
Six Months Ended   

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated

Other Comprehensive
Income into Income
(Effective Portion)   

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income into Income
(Effective Portion)
for the Six Months

Ended   

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in

Income on
Derivatives

(Ineffective Portion
and Amount

Excluded from
Effectiveness

Testing)   

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in

Income on Derivatives
(Ineffective Portion  and

Amount Excluded
from Effectiveness
Testing) for the Six

Months Ended  

(In thousands)   
June 30,

2011   
May 31,

2010      
June 30,

2011   
May 31,

2010      
June 30,

2011    
May 31,

2010  
Interest rate swaps   $ (3,332)  $ (297)  Interest expense   $ (811)  $(2,512)  Interest expense   $ 35    $ (3,147) 
 

Derivatives in Cash
Flow Hedging
Relationships   

Amount of Gain or (Loss)
Recognized in

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income on

Derivatives (Effective
Portion) for the Three

Months Ended   

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income into Income
(Effective Portion)   

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Reclassified
from Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income into Income
(Effective Portion)

for the Three
Months Ended   

Location of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in

Income on Derivatives
(Ineffective Portion

and Amount Excluded
from Effectiveness

Testing)   

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized in

Income on Derivatives
(Ineffective Portion and
Amount Excluded  from

Effectiveness Testing)
for the Three Months

Ended  

(In thousands)   
June 30,

2011   
May 31,

2010      
June 30,

2011   
May 31,

2010      
June 30,

2011    
May 31,

2010  
Interest rate swaps   $ (2,964)  $ (12)  Interest expense   $ (449)  $(1,008)  Interest expense   $ —      $ (3,147) 

Credit-risk-related contingent features. The Company has agreements with each of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where if the
Company defaults on any of its indebtedness, including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, then the Company
could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations. As of June 30, 2011, the termination value of derivatives in a net liability position, which includes
accrued interest but excludes any adjustment for nonperformance risk, related to these agreements was $2.5 million. As of June 30,
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2011, the Company has not posted any collateral related to these agreements. If the Company breaches any of these provisions, it could be required to settle its
obligations under the agreements at their termination value.

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan for eligible U.S. employees and defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans that cover substantially all of
its non-U.S. employees. For the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, costs relating to 401(k), pension and post-retirement benefit expenses were
$3.3 million and $1.8 million, respectively. Of these amounts, $1.9 million and $0.9 million were recorded in cost of services and $1.4 million and $0.9 million
were recorded in selling, general and administrative for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively.

For the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, costs relating to 401(k), pension and post-retirement benefit expenses were $8.3 million and
$4.4 million, respectively. Of these amounts, $5.2 million and $2.5 million were recorded in cost of services and $3.1 million and $1.9 million were recorded in
selling, general and administrative for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively.

401(k) and Other Defined Contribution Plans. Eligible employees may participate in the MSCI 401(k) plan (or any other regional defined contribution plan
sponsored by MSCI) immediately upon hire. Eligible employees receive 401(k) and other defined contribution plan matching contributions and, in the case of the
MSCI 401(k) plan, an additional Company contribution of 3% of the employees’ cash compensation, which is subject to vesting and certain other limitations.
Prior to January 1, 2011, legacy RiskMetrics employees participated in the legacy RiskMetrics 401(k) plan (or any other regional defined contribution plan
sponsored) and received 401(k) and other defined contribution plan matching contributions. The Company’s expenses associated with the 401(k) plan and other
defined contribution plans for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 were $2.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively. The Company’s expenses
associated with the 401(k) plan and other defined contribution plans for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 were $7.3 million and $3.3
million, respectively.

Net Periodic Benefit Expense. Net periodic benefit expense related to defined benefit pension plans was $0.6 million for both the three months ended
June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010. Net periodic benefit expense related to defined benefit pension plans was $1.0 million and $1.1 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively.

12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

On November 6, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the award of founders grants to its employees in the form of restricted stock units
and/or options (“Founders Grant Award”). The aggregate value of the grants, which were made on November 14, 2007, was approximately $68.0 million. The
restricted stock units and options vest over a four-year period, with 50% vesting on the second anniversary of the grant date and 25% vesting on each of the third
and fourth anniversary of the grant date. The options have an exercise price per share of $18.00 and have a term of 10 years, subject to earlier cancellation in
certain circumstances. The aggregate value of the options was calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation method consistent with ASC Subtopic 718-10,
“Compensation-Stock Compensation.” The final, unvested tranche of the Founders Grant Award, representing one-fourth of the total award, will vest on
November 14, 2011.

On December 16, 2008, the Company, as a component of the 2008 annual bonus, awarded certain of its employees with a grant in the form of restricted
stock units (“2008 Bonus Award”). The aggregate value of the grants was approximately $9.5 million of restricted stock units. The restricted stock units vest one-
third per year over a three year period. Approximately $4.2 million of this grant was awarded to retirement-eligible employees under the award terms. Based on
interpretive guidance related to ASC Subtopic 718-10, the Company accrues the estimated cost of these awards over the course of the fiscal year in which the
award is earned. As such, the Company accrued the estimated cost of the 2008 Bonus Award related to retirement-eligible employees over the 2008 fiscal year.
The final tranche of the 2008 Bonus Award will vest on January 9, 2012.

On December 16, 2009, the Company, as a component of the 2009 annual bonus, awarded certain of its employees with a grant in the form of restricted
stock units (“2009 Bonus Award”). The aggregate value of the grants was approximately $13.2 million of restricted stock units. The restricted stock units vest
over a three year period, with one-third vesting on December 20, 2010, December 19, 2011 and December 17, 2012, respectively. Approximately $5.1 million of
this grant was awarded to retirement-eligible employees under the award terms. The Company accrued the estimated cost of the 2009 Bonus Award granted to
retirement-eligible employees over the 2009 fiscal year. The first tranche of the 2009 Bonus Award vested on December 20, 2010.

On June 1, 2010, the Company reserved approximately 4.2 million shares of Common Stock for outstanding vested and unvested stock options and
0.1 million shares of Common Stock for outstanding unvested restricted stock awards
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assumed as part of the acquisition of RiskMetrics. Over an approximate three and a half year period from the date assumed, $16.7 million is expected to be
expensed for unvested stock options and $1.3 million for unvested restricted stock awards.

On June 1, 2010, the Company awarded certain of its employees with a grant in the form of restricted stock units (“Performance Award”). The Performance
Award will performance-vest based upon the Company achieving specific performance targets over a measurement period ending on December 31, 2012 and
time-vest over a 31 month period, with one-half time-vesting on December 1, 2011 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The aggregate value of the grants was
approximately $15.9 million.

On December 14, 2010, the Company, as a component of the 2010 annual bonus, awarded a portion of its employees with a grant in the form of restricted
stock units (“2010 Bonus Award”). The aggregate value of the grants was approximately $15.2 million. Approximately $6.2 million was awarded to retirement
eligible employees under the award terms, $0.5 million of which was expensed during the one month ended December 31, 2010. A portion of the 2010 Bonus
Award consisted of restricted stock units vesting over a three year period, with one-third vesting on each anniversary of the grant in 2011, 2012 and 2013,
respectively. A smaller portion of the 2010 Bonus Award consisted of restricted stock units subject to achieving both specific performance targets over a
measurement period ending on December 31, 2012 and a time-vesting period, with one-half time vesting on December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013,
respectively.

On December 10, 2010, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company approved the grant of a special one-time price and time
vested stock option award of 208,175 units to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“2010 CEO Award”). The award was valued using a Monte Carlo
simulation based on the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock at the close of business on December 13, 2010.

For the Founders Grant Award, the Performance Award and the 2010 CEO Award, all or a portion of the award may be cancelled in certain limited
situations, including termination for cause, if employment is terminated before the end of the relevant restriction period. For the 2008, 2009 and 2010 Bonus
Awards, all or a portion of the award may be cancelled if employment is terminated for certain reasons before the end of the relevant restriction period for non-
retirement-eligible employees.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company awarded 7,840 shares in MSCI common stock and 21,259 restricted stock units to directors who
were not employees of the Company during the period. During the six months ended May 31, 2010, the Company awarded 8,427 shares in MSCI common stock
and 8,286 restricted stock units to directors who were not employees of the Company or Morgan Stanley during the period.

Share-based compensation expense was $8.0 million and $16.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, respectively, of which $0.7
million and $1.7 million was related to the Founders Grant Award and $2.0 million and $3.8 million was related to the Performance Award for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2011, respectively. Share-based compensation expense was $5.4 million and $10.5 million for the three and six months ended May 31,
2010, of which $2.0 million and $4.1 million was related to the Founders Grant Award for the three and six months ended May 31, 2010, respectively. No
expense associated with the Performance Award was recognized during the three or six months ended May 31, 2010.

13. INCOME TAXES

The Company’s provision for income taxes was $43.8 million and $30.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010,
respectively. These amounts reflect effective tax rates of 35.6% and 36.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively.

The Company is under examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“the IRS”) and other tax authorities in certain countries, such as Japan and the United
Kingdom, and states in which the Company has significant business operations, such as New York. The tax years currently under examination vary by
jurisdiction. Additionally, during 2010 Morgan Stanley reached a preliminary settlement with New York State and New York City tax authorities on issues
relating to years 2002-2006, a period of time when the Company was a member of the consolidated Morgan Stanley tax returns. The Company expects to settle
by sometime in the fourth quarter of calendar 2011 and to indemnify Morgan Stanley for any additional assessments deemed to be due in accordance with the Tax
Sharing Agreement.

The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions resulting from these open examinations and
subsequent years’ examinations. The Company has established a liability for unrecognized tax benefits that the Company believes is adequate in relation to the
potential for additional assessments. Once established, the Company adjusts unrecognized tax benefits only when more information is available or when an event
occurs
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necessitating a change. It is reasonably possible that further significant changes in the gross balance of unrecognized tax benefits may occur within the next 12
months. At this time, however, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the expected change to the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits and the impact on the
effective tax rate over the next 12 months.

The Company believes the resolution of tax matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company, although a
resolution could have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income for a particular future period and on the Company’s effective tax
rate for any period in which such resolution occurs.

The following table summarizes the major taxing jurisdictions in which the Company and its affiliates operate and the open tax years for each major
jurisdiction:
 

Tax Jurisdiction   Open Tax Years 
United States    2005-2010  
California    2004-2010  
New York State and City    2002-2010  
Hong Kong    2003-2010  
United Kingdom    2007-2010  
Canada    2005-2010  
Japan    2009-2010  

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC Subtopic 280-10, “Segment Reporting,” establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as
components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding
how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. MSCI’s Chief Executive Officer, who is considered to be its chief operating decision maker, or CODM,
reviews financial information presented on an operating segment basis for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Prior to
June 1, 2010, the Company assessed that it operated in a single business segment based on its historical integration and management strategies. As a result of
MSCI’s acquisition of RiskMetrics, MSCI began operating as two segments, the Performance and Risk business and the Governance business. These designations
have been made as the discrete operating results of these segments are reviewed by the Company’s CODM for purposes of making operating decisions and
assessing financial performance.

The Performance and Risk business is a leading global provider of investment decision support tools, including indices, portfolio risk and performance
analytics, credit analytics and ESG products. The business provides clients with a broad suite of products and services to assist them with managing equity, fixed
income and multi-asset class portfolios. The products are used in many areas of the investment process, including portfolio construction and rebalancing,
performance benchmarking and attribution, risk management and analysis, index-linked investment product creation, asset allocation, assessment of social
responsibility, environmental stewardship and the effects of climate change on investments, investment manager selection and investment research.

The Governance business is a leading provider of corporate governance products and specialized financial research and analysis services to institutional
shareholders and corporations around the world. Among other things, the Governance business facilitates the voting of proxies by institutional investors and
provides in-depth research and analysis to help inform their voting decisions and identify issuer-specific risk. It offers both global security coverage and fully
integrated products and services, including proxy voting, policy creation, research, vote recommendations, vote execution, post-vote disclosure and reporting and
analytical tools. Within a firewall, a separate unit of the Governance business also provides products and services to corporate clients who may use those products
and services to learn about and improve their governance and executive compensation practices.

The CODM does not review any information regarding total assets on an operating segment basis. Operating segments do not record intersegment revenue,
and, accordingly, there is none to be reported. The accounting policies for segment reporting are the same as for MSCI as a whole.

The following table presents MSCI’s operating segments’ results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010:
 

22



Table of Contents

MSCI INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)
 

 
  Three Months Ended    Six Months Ended  
  June 30,    May 31,    June 30,    May 31,  

   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Operating revenues         
Performance and Risk   $195,510    $125,170    $387,558    $246,850  
Governance    30,973     —       62,223     —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Consolidated   $226,483    $125,170    $449,781    $246,850  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation and amortization of property,
equipment and leasehold improvements         

Performance and Risk   $ 17,114    $ 7,833    $ 34,435    $ 15,504  
Governance    4,477     —       8,958     —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Consolidated   $ 21,591    $ 7,833    $ 43,393    $ 15,504  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Operating income         
Performance and Risk   $ 79,855    $ 46,697    $152,501    $ 93,954  
Governance    2,836     —       5,619     —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Consolidated   $ 82,691    $ 46,697    $158,120    $ 93,954  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Revenue by geography is based on the shipping address of the customer. The following table sets forth revenue for the periods indicated by geographic
area:
 

   Three Months Ended    Six Months Ended  

   
June 30,

2011    
May 31,

2010    
June 30,

2011    
May 31,

2010  
   (in thousands)  
Revenues   
Americas:         
United States   $ 117,385    $ 56,278    $224,100    $ 116,436  
Other    8,143     4,288     16,170     8,148  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Americas    125,528     60,566     240,270     124,584  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

EMEA:         
United Kingdom    25,354     20,127     52,405     34,108  
Other    45,841     23,219     99,158     46,646  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total EMEA    71,195     43,346     151,563     80,754  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Asia & Australia:         
Japan    14,074     11,305     27,825     21,915  
Other    15,686     9,953     30,123     19,597  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Asia & Australia    29,760     21,258     57,948     41,512  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total   $226,483    $125,170    $449,781    $246,850  
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Long-lived assets consist of property, equipment, leasehold improvements, goodwill and intangible assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization.

The following table sets forth long-lived assets on the dates indicated by geographic area:
 

   As of  

   
June 30,

2011    
November 30,

2010  
   (in thousands)  
Long-lived assets   
Americas:     
United States   $2,401,934    $2,435,914  
Other    3,953     2,424  

    
 

    
 

Total Americas    2,405,887     2,438,338  
    

 
    

 

EMEA:     
United Kingdom    5,581     4,740  
Other    5,153     7,826  

    
 

    
 

Total EMEA    10,734     12,566  
    

 
    

 

Asia & Australia:     
Japan    398     452  
Other    5,212     5,933  

    
 

    
 

Total Asia & Australia    5,610     6,385  
    

 
    

 

Total   $2,422,231    $2,457,289  
    

 
    

 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management of the Company evaluated subsequent events from July 1, 2011 through the issuance date of this Form 10-Q.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of MSCI Inc.:

We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of financial condition of MSCI Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30,
2011 and November 30, 2010; the related condensed consolidated statements of income for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and May 31,
2010; and the related condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010. These interim financial
statements are the responsibility of the management of MSCI Inc.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial
information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to such condensed consolidated interim financial statements for them
to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated statement of
financial condition of MSCI Inc. and subsidiaries as of November 30, 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows
and shareholders’ equity for the fiscal year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated January 31, 2011, we expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of financial condition as
of November 30, 2010 is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated statement of financial condition from which it has been derived.
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
August 5, 2011
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30,
2010 (the “Form 10-K”). This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from
those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in
“Item 1A.—Risk Factors,” in our Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a leading global provider of investment decision support tools, including indices, portfolio risk and performance analytics and corporate governance
products and services. Our products and services address multiple markets, asset classes and geographies and are sold to a diverse client base, including asset
owners such as pension funds, endowments, foundations, central banks, family offices and insurance companies; institutional and retail asset managers, such as
managers of pension assets, mutual funds, exchange traded funds (“ETFs”), hedge funds and private wealth; financial intermediaries such as banks, broker-
dealers, exchanges, custodians and investment consultants; and corporate clients. As of June 30, 2011, we had 33 offices in 19 countries to help serve our diverse
client base, with 53.4% of our revenue from clients in the Americas, 33.7% in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) and 12.9% in Asia and Australia
based on revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2011.

Our principal sales model in both of our business segments is to license annual, recurring subscriptions to our products and services for use at specified
locations, often by a given number of users or for a certain volume of services for an annual fee paid up front. Additionally, we have increasing recurring
subscriptions to our managed services offering whereby we operate our Performance and Risk products on behalf of our clients at their direction. These fees are
recorded as deferred revenues on our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition and are recognized on our Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Income as the service is rendered. Additionally, our revenues come from clients who use our indices as the basis for index-linked investment products such as
ETFs. We derive revenues from certain institutional clients that use our indices as the basis for passively managed funds and separate accounts. These clients
commonly pay us a license fee for the use of our intellectual property based on the investment product’s assets. We generate a limited amount of our revenues
from certain exchanges that use our indices as the basis for futures and options contracts and pay us a license fee for the use of our intellectual property based on
their volume of trades. We also receive revenues from one-time fees related to implementation, historical or customized reports, advisory and consulting services
and overages relating to the proxy research and voting services.

In evaluating our financial performance, we focus on revenue growth for the company in total and by product category as well as operating profit growth
and the level of profitability as measured by our operating margin. Our business is not highly capital intensive and, as such, we expect to continue to convert a
high percentage of our operating profits into excess cash in the future. Our revenue growth strategy includes: (a) expanding and deepening our relationships with
investment institutions worldwide; (b) developing new and enhancing existing product offerings, including combining existing product features or data derived
from our products to create new products; and (c) actively seeking to acquire products, technologies and companies that will enhance, complement or expand our
client base and our product offerings. In furtherance of this revenue growth strategy, in June and July, 2010, respectively, we completed the acquisitions of
RiskMetrics Group, Inc. (“RiskMetrics”) and Measurisk, LLC (“Measurisk”), as discussed below.

To maintain and accelerate our revenue and operating income growth, we will continue to invest in and expand our operating functions and infrastructure,
including additional product management, sales and client support staff and facilities in locations around the world and additional staff and supporting technology
for our research and our data operations and technology functions. At the same time, managing and controlling our operating expenses is very important to us and
a distinct part of our culture. Over time, our goal is to keep the rate of growth of our operating expenses below the rate of growth of our revenues, allowing us to
expand our operating margins. However, at times, because of significant market opportunities, it may be more important for us to invest in our business in order
to support increased efforts to attract new clients and to develop new product offerings, rather than emphasize short-term operating margin expansion.
Furthermore, in some periods our operating expense growth may exceed our operating revenue growth due to the variability of revenues from several of our
products, including our equity indices licensed as the basis of ETFs and non-recurring fees.

Operating Segments
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Following our acquisition of RiskMetrics on June 1, 2010, we began operating as two segments: the Performance and Risk business and the Governance
business. See Note 14, “Segment Information,” for further information about MSCI’s operating segments.

Our Performance and Risk business is a leading global provider of investment decision support tools, including indices and portfolio risk and performance
analytics. Our Performance and Risk products are used in many areas of the investment process, including portfolio construction and rebalancing, performance
benchmarking and attribution, risk management and analysis, index-linked investment product creation, asset allocation, assessment of social responsibility and
environmental stewardship and the effects of climate change on investments, investment manager selection and investment research. The flagship products within
our Performance and Risk business are our global equity indices and ESG products marketed under the MSCI brand, our market and credit risk analytics
marketed under the RiskMetrics and Barra brands, our portfolio risk and performance analytics covering global equity and fixed income markets marketed under
the Barra brand and our valuation models and risk management software for the energy and commodities markets marketed under the FEA brand.

Our Governance business is a leading provider of corporate governance and specialized financial research and analysis services to institutional investors
and corporations around the world. Among other things, the Governance business facilitates the voting of proxies by institutional investors and provides in-depth
research and analysis to help inform voting decisions and identify issuer-specific risk. The Governance business offers both global security coverage and fully
integrated products and services, including proxy voting, policy creation, research, vote recommendations, vote execution, post-vote disclosure and reporting and
analytical tools. Within a firewall, the Governance business also provides products and services to corporate clients who may use those products and services to
learn about and improve their governance practices. The flagship products within our Governance business are our governance research and outsourced proxy
voting and reporting services marketed under the ISS brand and our forensic accounting risk research, legal/regulatory risk assessment and due diligence products
marketed under the CFRA brand.

Our Governance business serves both institutional and corporate clients and we recognize that there is a potential for conflicts of interest with respect to the
provision of products and services to corporate issuers through ISS Corporate Services and the products and services we provide to our institutional investor
clients through Institutional Shareholders Services (“ISS”). We have instituted multiple safeguards to mitigate any real or perceived conflicts of interests. We
formed ISS Corporate Services as a subsidiary with distinct resources and a firewall that prevents the flow of information outside of ISS Corporate Services.
Every ISS Corporate Services contract indicates that the purchase of corporate services will not result in preferential treatment from ISS and does not influence
ISS’s proxy recommendations or other research coverage. Recommendations and research coverage are based solely on the application of ISS’s published policies
and by an issuer’s actual governance policies and practices.

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Results

Acquisition of RiskMetrics

On June 1, 2010, we completed our acquisition of RiskMetrics in a cash-and-stock transaction valued at approximately $1,572.4 million. In connection
with the acquisition, we entered into a senior secured credit agreement, which was comprised of (i) a $1,275.0 million six-year term loan facility (“2010 Term
Loan”) and (ii) a $100.0 million five-year revolving credit facility. We assigned a significant value to the intangible assets of RiskMetrics as part of the
acquisition, which increased the amortization expense we recognized in the six months ended June 30, 2011 and that we will recognize in the future. See Note 9,
“Intangible Assets” for further information. We also have incurred increased interest expense as a result of the credit facility we entered into in connection with
the acquisition. We therefore expect that the acquisition of RiskMetrics will have a significant impact on our financial results in future periods.

Acquisition of Measurisk

On July 30, 2010, we acquired Measurisk to expand our product offerings to hedge fund investors. The value we assigned to the intangible assets of
Measurisk further increased the amortization expense that we recognized in the six months ended June 30, 2011 and that we will recognize in the future. See Note
9, “Intangible Assets” for further information.

The results of RiskMetrics and Measurisk were not included in our results of operations until their acquisition dates of June 1, 2010 and July 30, 2010,
respectively. The RiskMetrics acquisition has had a significant impact on our results of operations and will affect the comparability of our results in the future.

Restructuring
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In connection with the acquisition of RiskMetrics, we initiated a plan to restructure the Company’s operations to eliminate overlapping positions and
duplicative occupancy costs, terminate overlapping vendor contracts, and discontinue the planned integration of a product into RiskMetrics’ standard product
offering suite. We initiated restructuring activities during the third quarter of 2010 and believe that the elimination of overlapping positions was substantially
completed in the second quarter of 2011 and expect the elimination of leases or vendor contracts to be completed during the current fiscal year. See “—
Restructuring” below and Note 4, “Restructuring,” for further information about MSCI’s restructuring-related activities and estimated costs.

The cumulative charges that we expect to incur in connection with the restructuring are subject to a number of assumptions, and actual results may differ
significantly. We may also incur other charges not currently contemplated due to events that may occur as a result of, or associated with, the restructuring.

Term Loan Repricing

On March 14, 2011, we completed the repricing of the 2010 Term Loan. The repricing provided for the incurrence of a new senior secured loan (the “2011
Term Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of $1,125.0 million. The proceeds of the 2011 Term Loan, together with $87.6 million of cash on hand, were used
to repay the remaining $1,212.6 million outstanding balance of the 2010 Term Loan in full. The 2011 Term Loan matures in March 2017. The repricing decreased
the interest rate applicable to the 2011 Term Loan from the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 3.25% (with a leverage-based stepdown) to LIBOR
plus 2.75% (with a leverage-based stepdown) and reduced the LIBOR floor applicable to the 2011 Term Loan from 1.50% to 1.00%. We incurred $6.1 million in
fees associated with the repricing which are reflected in “other expense (income)” on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the six
months ended June 30, 2011.

Change in Fiscal Year End

In “Results of Operations” below, we compare the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 with the previously reported three-month and
six-month periods ended May 31, 2010. Financial information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 has not been included in this Form 10-Q for the
following reasons: (i) the three and six months ended May 31, 2010 provide a meaningful comparison for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011; (ii) there
are no significant factors, seasonal or other, that would impact the comparability of information if the results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010
were presented in lieu of results for the three and six months ended May 31, 2010; and (iii) it was not practicable or cost justified to prepare this information.

The discussion of our results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 are presented below. The results of
operations for interim periods may not be indicative of future results.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2011 Compared to the Three Months Ended May 31, 2010

Results of Operations
 

   Three Months Ended          
   June 30,    May 31,          
   2011    2010    Increase/(Decrease)  
   (in thousands, except per share data)  
Operating revenues   $226,483    $125,170    $101,313     80.9% 
Operating expenses:         

Cost of services    68,840     30,463     38,377     126.0% 
Selling, general and administrative    53,321     40,177     13,144     32.7% 
Restructuring    40     —       40     n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    16,423     4,277     12,146     284.0% 
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements    5,168     3,556     1,612     45.3% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  

Total operating expenses    143,792     78,473     65,319     83.2% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
  

Operating income    82,691     46,697     35,994     77.1% 
Other expense (income), net    13,049     8,746     4,303     49.2% 
Provision for income taxes    23,982     13,884     10,098     72.7% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  

Net income   $ 45,660    $ 24,067    $ 21,593     89.7% 
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Earnings per basic common share   $0.38   $0.23   $0.15     65.2 %  
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Earnings per diluted common share   $0.37   $0.22   $0.15     68.2 %  
    

 

   

 

   

 

  

Operating margin    36.5%   37.3%    
    

 

   

 

   

Operating Revenues

Following our acquisition of RiskMetrics, we began operating as two segments: the Performance and Risk business and the Governance business. As a part
of establishing the two operating segments and how they will be managed, we have realigned the grouping of our product categories. Our revenues are now
grouped into the following five product and/or service categories:
 

 •  Index and ESG
 

 •  Risk management analytics
 

 •  Portfolio management analytics
 

 •  Energy and commodity analytics
 

 •  Governance

The Performance and Risk business is comprised of index and ESG, risk management analytics, portfolio management analytics and energy and
commodity analytics products. The Governance business is comprised of the governance products.

The following table summarizes the revenue by product category for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended May 31,
2010:
 

   Three Months Ended         
   June 30,    May 31,         
   2011    2010    Increase/(Decrease)  
   (in thousands)         
Index and ESG:        

Subscriptions   $ 66,275    $ 54,250    $ 12,025    22.2%
Asset based fees    36,287     25,674     10,613    41.3% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total index and ESG products    102,562     79,924     22,638    28.3% 
Risk management analytics    60,806     11,105     49,701    447.6% 
Portfolio management analytics    29,193     30,266     (1,073)   (3.5%) 
Energy and commodity analytics    2,949     3,875     (926)   (23.9%) 
Governance    30,973     —       30,973    n/a  

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating revenues   $226,483    $125,170    $101,313    80.9% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Total operating revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2011 increased $101.3 million, or 80.9%, to $226.5 million compared to $125.2 million for
the three months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $84.3 million of the year-over-year growth was comprised of revenues contributed by the acquisitions
made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $17.0 million of growth was comprised of increases in asset based fees of $9.8
million and subscription revenues of $7.2 million. Subscription revenues consist of our revenues related to index and ESG subscriptions, risk management
analytics, portfolio management analytics, energy and commodity analytics and governance products. Our revenues are impacted by changes in exchange rates
primarily as they relate to the U.S. dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not
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weakened relative to exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2011 would have been lower by $1.3 million.

Our index and ESG products primarily consist of equity index subscriptions, equity index asset based fees products and ESG products. Our index and ESG
products are used to benchmark investment performance, as a basis for index linked investment products, for research and for investment manager selection. We
derive revenues from our index and ESG products through index data and ESG subscriptions, fees based on assets in investment products linked to our indices
and non-recurring licenses of our index historical data. Revenues related to index products increased 28.3% to $102.6 million for the three months ended June 30,
2011 compared to $79.9 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010.

Revenues from the index and ESG products subscriptions sub-category were up 22.2% to $66.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared
to $54.3 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $5.1 million of the growth was comprised of revenues contributed by the acquisitions
made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $6.9 million increase was attributable to growth primarily in our benchmark
products.

Revenues attributable to the index asset based fees products sub-category increased 41.3% to $36.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011
compared to $25.7 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. The increase in the asset based fees products sub-category was primarily driven by the
increased average values of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI equity indices. The average value of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI equity indices in the aggregate
increased 41.4% to $356.8 billion for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $252.3 billion for the three months ended May 31, 2010. As of June 30,
2011, the value of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI equity indices was $360.5 billion, representing an increase of 51.4% from $238.1 billion as of May 31, 2010.

The three MSCI indices with the largest amount of ETF assets linked to them as of June 30, 2011 were the MSCI Emerging Markets, EAFE and U.S. Broad
Market Indices with $106.2 billion, $46.7 billion and $20.1 billion in assets, respectively.

The following table sets forth the value of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI indices and the sequential change of such assets as of the periods indicated:
 

$ in Billions  

February
28,

2010   

May
31,

2010   

August
31,

2010   

November
30,

2010   

December
31,

2010   

March
31,

2011   

June
30,

2011  
AUM in ETFs linked to MSCI Indices  $ 233.5   $238.1   $258.7   $ 311.0   $ 333.3   $350.1   $360.5  

Sequential Change ($ in Billions)                      
Market Appreciation/(Depreciation)  $ (8.6)  $ (4.4)  $ 6.8   $ 28.2   $ 18.9   $ 10.1   $ (3.8) 
Cash Inflow   8.3    9.0    13.8    24.1    3.4    6.7    14.2  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Change  $ (0.3)  $ 4.6   $ 20.6   $ 52.3   $ 22.3   $ 16.8   $ 10.4  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Source: Bloomberg and MSCI

The following table sets forth the average value of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI indices for the periods indicated:
 
   Quarterly Average  
   2010    2011  
$ in Billions   February   May    August    November   March    June  
AUM in ETFs linked to MSCI Indices   $ 239.3    $252.3    $252.0    $ 300.7    $337.6    $356.8  

Source: Bloomberg and MSCI

The historical values of the assets in ETFs linked to our indices as of the last day of the month and the monthly average balance can be found under the link
“AUM in ETFs Linked to MSCI Indices” on our website at http://ir.msci.com. This information is updated on the second U.S. business day of each month.
Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or any other report filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
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Our risk management analytics products offer consistent risk and performance assessment frameworks for managing and monitoring investments in
organizations globally. These products allow clients to analyze investments in a variety of asset classes and are based on our proprietary integrated fundamental
multi-factor risk models, value-at-risk methodologies, performance attribution frameworks and asset and performance valuation models.

Revenues related to risk management analytics products increased $49.7 million, or 447.6%, to $60.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011
compared to $11.1 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $47.4 million of the growth was comprised of revenues contributed by the
acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $2.3 million of growth primarily reflects an increase of sales in
our risk analytics products.

Our portfolio management analytics products consist of equity portfolio analytics tools and fixed income portfolio analytics tools. Revenues related to
portfolio management analytics products decreased 3.5% to $29.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $30.3 million for three months
ended May 31, 2010. Within portfolio management analytics, equity portfolio analytics decreased $1.0 million to $28.1 million and fixed income analytics
decreased $0.1 million to $1.1 million.

Our energy and commodity analytics products consist of software applications which help users value, model and hedge physical assets and derivatives
across a number of market segments including energy and commodity assets. Revenues from energy and commodity analytics products decreased 23.9% to $2.9
million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $3.9 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. The decrease is primarily the result of the
timing of new and recurring sales.

Our governance products consist of corporate governance products and services, including proxy research, recommendation and voting services, as well as
governance advisory and compensation services. It also includes forensic accounting research as well as class action monitoring and claims filing services to aid
institutional investors in the recovery of funds from securities litigation. Governance products contributed approximately $31.0 million, including $4.2 million of
non-recurring revenues, to our operating revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2011. The governance product line was acquired with our purchase of
RiskMetrics on June 1, 2010 and had no effect on our results of operations prior to that date.

Run Rate

At the end of any period, we generally have subscription and investment product license agreements in place for a large portion of our total revenues for the
following 12 months. We measure the fees related to these agreements and refer to this as our “Run Rate.” The Run Rate at a particular point in time represents
the forward-looking fees for the next 12 months from all subscriptions and investment product licenses we currently provide to our clients under renewable
contracts assuming all contracts that come up for renewal are renewed and assuming then-current exchange rates. For any subscription or license where fees are
linked to an investment product’s assets or trading volume, the Run Rate calculation reflects an annualization of the most recent periodic fee earned under such
subscription or license. The Run Rate does not include fees associated with “one-time” and other non-recurring transactions. In addition, we remove from the Run
Rate the fees associated with any subscription or investment product license agreement with respect to which we have received a notice of termination or non-
renewal during the period and we have determined that such notice evidences the client’s final decision to terminate or not renew the applicable subscription or
agreement, even though such notice is not effective until a later date.

Because the Run Rate represents potential future fees, there is typically a delayed impact on our operating revenues from changes in our Run Rate. In
addition, the actual amount of revenues we will realize over the following 12 months will differ from the Run Rate because of:
 

 •  revenues associated with new subscriptions and non-recurring sales;
 

 •  modifications, cancellations and non-renewals of existing agreements, subject to specified notice requirements;
 

 
•  fluctuations in asset-based fees, which may result from market movements or from investment inflows into and outflows from investment products

linked to our indices;
 

 •  fluctuations in fees based on trading volumes of futures and options contracts linked to our indices;
 

 •  fluctuations in the number of hedge funds for which we provide investment information and risk analysis to hedge fund investors;
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 •  price changes;
 

 •  revenue recognition differences under U.S. GAAP;
 

 •  fluctuations in foreign exchange rates; and
 

 •  the impact of acquisitions and dispositions.

Because of the impact of seasonality on our operating metrics, our Run Rates and Retention Rates have been restated to reflect the change in fiscal year end
in order to provide a more meaningful comparison. We do not experience this seasonality with respect to the financial information reported in our “Results of
Operations.” The restated Run Rates and Retention Rates assume the change in fiscal year end occurred on January 1, 2010.

The following tables set forth our Run Rates as of the dates indicated (as if we had completed the RiskMetrics acquisition as of the dates indicated) and the
percentage growth over the periods indicated:
 
   As of      
   June 30,    June 30,    March 31,    Year Over Year  Sequential  
   2011    2010    2011    Comparison   Comparison 
   (in thousands)      
Run Rates          
Index and ESG products          

Subscription   $257,470    $221,174    $247,870     16.4%   3.9% 
Asset based fees    140,144     94,496     134,257     48.3%   4.4% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   

Index and ESG products total    397,614     315,670     382,127     26.0%   4.1% 
Risk management analytics    249,048     200,161     243,853     24.4%   2.1% 
Portfolio management analytics    118,452     121,525     116,839     (2.5)%   1.4% 
Energy and commodity analytics    15,074     15,344     15,047     (1.8)%   0.2% 
Governance    107,755     105,448     105,870     2.2%   1.8% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   

Total Run Rate   $887,943    $758,148    $863,736     17.1%   2.8% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

Subscription total   $747,799    $663,652    $729,479     12.7%   2.5% 
Asset based fees total    140,144     94,496     134,257     48.3%   4.4% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   

Total Run Rate   $887,943    $758,148    $863,736     17.1%   2.8% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

 Included in the above table is approximately $14.5 million and $14.2 million of Run Rate as of June 30, 2011 and March 31, 2011, respectively, associated
with the Measurisk acquisition. The prior period Run Rates have not been restated for the impact of the Measurisk acquisition.

Aggregate and Core Retention Rates

The following table sets forth our Aggregate Retention Rates by product category for the indicated three months ended as if we had completed the
RiskMetrics acquisition as of the beginning of the periods indicated:
 

   
June 30,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
Index and ESG products    92.8%   90.2% 
Risk management analytics    92.2%   92.0% 
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Portfolio management analytics    91.4%   84.5% 
Energy and commodity analytics    88.8%   86.8% 
Governance    90.4%   85.6% 
Total    91.9%   88.8% 

The following table sets forth our Core Retention Rates by product category for the indicated three months ended as if we had completed the RiskMetrics
acquisition as of the beginning of the periods indicated:
 

   
June 30,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
Index and ESG products    92.8%   90.7% 
Risk management analytics    92.7%   92.5% 
Portfolio management analytics    93.2%   86.7% 
Energy and commodity analytics    88.8%   86.8% 
Governance    90.4%   85.6% 
Total    92.4%   89.5% 

The quarterly Aggregate Retention Rates are calculated by annualizing the cancellations for which we have received a notice of termination or non-renewal
during the quarter and have determined that such notice evidences the client’s final decision to terminate or not renew the applicable subscription or agreement,
even though such notice is not effective until a later date. This annualized cancellation figure is then divided by the subscription Run Rate at the beginning of the
year to calculate a cancellation rate. This cancellation rate is then subtracted from 100% to derive the annualized Aggregate Retention Rate for the quarter. The
Aggregate Retention Rate is computed on a product-by-product basis. Therefore, if a client reduces the number of products to which it subscribes or switches
between our products, we treat it as a cancellation. In addition, we treat any reduction in fees resulting from renegotiated contracts as a cancellation in the
calculation to the extent of the reduction. Aggregate Retention Rates are generally higher during the first three fiscal quarters and lower in the fourth fiscal quarter
in our Performance and Risk business and are generally lower in the first fiscal quarter and higher during the last three fiscal quarters in our Governance business.

For the calculation of the Core Retention Rate the same methodology is used except the cancellations in the quarter are reduced by the amount of product
swaps. We do not calculate Aggregate or Core Retention Rates for that portion of our Run Rate attributable to assets in investment products linked to our indices
or to trading volumes of futures and options contracts linked to our indices.

Operating Expenses

We group our operating expenses into five categories:
 

 •  Cost of services
 

 •  Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”)
 

 •  Restructuring
 

 •  Amortization of intangible assets
 

 •  Depreciation of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements

In both the cost of services and SG&A expense categories, compensation and benefits represent the majority of our expenses. Other costs associated with
the number of employees such as office space and professional services are included in both the cost of services and SG&A expense categories and are consistent
with the allocation of employees to those respective areas.

The following table shows operating expenses by each of the categories:
 

33



Table of Contents

 
  Three Months Ended    

Increase/(Decrease)  
  June 30,    May 31,    

   2011    2010    
   (in thousands)         
Cost of services:        

Compensation and benefits   $ 49,226    $22,354    $26,872    120.2% 
Non-compensation expenses    19,614     8,109     11,505    141.9% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total cost of services    68,840     30,463     38,377    126.0% 
Selling, general and administrative:        

Compensation and benefits    35,935     22,410     13,525    60.4% 
Non-compensation expenses    17,386     17,767     (381)   (2.1)% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total selling, general and administrative    53,321     40,177     13,144    32.7% 
Restructuring    40     —       40    n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    16,423     4,277     12,146    284.0% 
Depreciation of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements    5,168     3,556     1,612    45.3% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating expenses   $143,792    $78,473    $65,319    83.2% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Compensation and benefits   $ 85,161    $44,764    $40,397    90.2% 
Non-compensation expenses    37,000     25,876     11,124    43.0% 
Restructuring    40     —       40    n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    16,423     4,277     12,146    284.0% 
Depreciation of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements    5,168     3,556     1,612    45.3% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating expenses   $143,792    $78,473    $65,319    83.2% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Operating expenses were $143.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of $65.3 million, or 83.2%, compared to $78.5 million for
the three months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $60.6 million of the year-over-year increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions
made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $4.7 million increase primarily reflects higher compensation and benefits
partially offset by lower non-compensation expenses. Our operating expenses are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to the U.S.
dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not weakened relative to exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our operating expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011
would have been lower by $1.9 million.

Compensation and benefits expenses represent the majority of our expenses across all of our operating functions and typically have represented
approximately 50% to 60% of our total operating expenses. These costs generally contribute to the majority of our expense increases from period to period,
reflecting increased compensation and benefits expenses for current staff and increased staffing levels. Continued growth of our emerging market centers around
the world is an important factor in our ability to manage and control the growth of our compensation and benefit expenses. As of June 30, 2011, approximately
34.5% of our employees were located in emerging market centers compared to 47.9% as of May 31, 2010.

During the three months ended June 30, 2011, compensation and benefits costs were $85.2 million, an increase of $40.4 million, or 90.2%, compared to
$44.8 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $34.2 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions
made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $6.2 million increase primarily reflects $4.9 million in higher costs related to
current staff and increased staffing levels and $1.4 million in higher stock based compensation expense.

Stock based compensation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was $7.8 million, an increase of $2.6 million, or 50.2%, compared to $5.2
million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. The increase included the amortization associated with the Performance Award granted in June 2010 to certain
of our employees, the amortization of awards assumed upon the acquisition of RiskMetrics, amortization of restricted stock units granted as a component of the
2010 annual bonus, partially offset by decreased expense associated with the amortization of the Founders Grant Award and restricted stock units granted as a
component of the 2008 and 2009 annual bonus. Approximately $0.7 million and $2.0 million of the stock based compensation expense was related to the
Founders Grant Award for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, approximately $2.0
million was associated with the Performance Award granted in June 2010. The decrease in the expense related to the Founders Grant Award and the 2008 and
2009 annual bonus awards are primarily attributable to the vestings that occurred.

Non-compensation expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was $37.0 million, an increase of $11.1 million, or 43.0%, compared to $25.9
million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. The increase primarily reflects expenses
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contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010, higher outside professional, travel and entertainment,
recruiting and insurance costs. In the three months ended May 31, 2010, we recognized $5.3 million in costs related to the acquisition of RiskMetrics.

Cost of Services

Cost of services includes costs related to our research, data management and production, software engineering and product management functions. Costs in
these areas include staff compensation and benefits, occupancy costs, market data fees and information technology services. Compensation and benefits generally
contribute to a majority of our expense increases from period to period, reflecting increases for existing staff and increased staffing levels.

For the three months ended June 30, 2011, total cost of services increased 126.0% to $68.8 million compared to $30.5 million for the three months ended
May 31, 2010. Approximately $32.1 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year
ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $6.2 million increase was largely due to an increase of $4.3 million in costs associated with compensation and benefits
and $1.9 million in non-compensation expenses.

Compensation and benefits expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 increased $26.9 million to $49.2 million compared to $22.4 million for the
three months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $22.6 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the
second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $4.3 million increase was largely due to higher costs related to current staff and increased
staffing levels and increased stock based compensation expense, partially offset by lower post-retirement and other expenses.

Non-compensation expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 increased $11.5 million to $19.6 million compared to $8.1 million for the three
months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $9.6 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half
of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $1.9 million increase was largely due to increased travel and entertainment, information technology, outside
professional and market data costs.

Our cost of services expenses are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to the U.S. dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not weakened
relative to exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our cost of services for the six months ended June 30, 2011 would have been lower by $0.9 million.

Selling, General and Administrative

SG&A includes expenses for our sales and marketing staff, and our finance, human resources, legal and compliance, information technology infrastructure
and corporate administration personnel. As with cost of services, the largest expense in this category relates to compensation and benefits. Other significant
expenses are for occupancy costs, consulting services and information technology costs. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, SG&A was $53.3 million, an
increase of $13.1 million, or 32.7%, compared to $40.2 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. The majority of the increase was comprised of
expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010.

Compensation and benefits expenses increased $13.5 million to $35.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $22.4 million for the
three months ended May 30, 2010. Approximately $11.7 million of the increase was the result of the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended
November 30, 2010. The remaining $1.8 million increase was largely due to higher costs related to current staff and increased staffing levels, increased stock
based compensation and post-retirement and other expense.

Non-compensation expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 decreased $0.4 million to $17.4 million compared to $17.8 million for the three
months ended May 31, 2010. In the three months ended May 31, 2010, we recognized $5.3 million in costs related to the acquisition of RiskMetrics while no
similar costs were recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2011. Partially offsetting this decrease were approximately $3.1 million of expenses
recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2011 contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010 and
$1.8 million of increased outside professional costs.

Our SG&A expenses are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to the U.S. dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not weakened relative to
exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our SG&A expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2011 would have been lower by $0.9 million.

Amortization of Intangibles
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Amortization of intangibles expense relates to the intangible assets arising from the acquisition of Barra in June 2004, RiskMetrics in June 2010 and
Measurisk in July 2010. Amortization of intangibles expense totaled $16.4 million and $4.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and May 31,
2010, respectively. The increase of $12.1 million was the result of increased amortization associated with the acquisitions of RiskMetrics and Measurisk made
during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010.

Depreciation and Amortization of Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements totaled $5.2 million and $3.6 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The increase is primarily the result of depreciating equipment associated with the acquisitions made during the
second half of the year ended November 30, 2010.

Other Expense (Income), Net

Other expense (income), net for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was $13.1 million, an increase of $4.3 million compared to $8.7 million for the three
months ended May 31, 2010. The increase primarily reflects higher interest expense resulting from the term loan we entered into on June 1, 2010 as part of our
acquisition of RiskMetrics, lower interest income and higher foreign exchange losses.

Income Taxes

The provision for income tax expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was $24.0 million, an increase of $10.1 million, or 72.7%, compared to
$13.9 million for the three months ended May 31, 2010. This increase is primarily due to higher taxable income resulting from the acquisitions made during the
second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. These amounts reflect effective tax rates of 34.4% and 36.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and
May 31, 2010, respectively. The effective tax rate of 34.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2011 reflects our estimate of the effective tax rate for the quarter,
adjusted for several discrete items recognized during the quarter.

Segment Results of Operations

The results of operations by segment for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 are as follows:
 
   Three Months Ended June 30, 2011    Three Months Ended May 31, 2010  

   
Performance

and Risk    Governance  Total    
Performance

and Risk    Governance   Total  
Operating revenues   $ 195,510    $ 30,973   $226,483    $ 125,170    $ —      $125,170  
Cost of services    52,659     16,181    68,840     30,463     —       30,463  
Selling, general and administrative    45,810     7,511    53,321     40,177     —       40,177  
Restructuring    72     (32)   40     —       —       —    
Amortization of intangible assets    13,073     3,350    16,423     4,277     —       4,277  
Depreciation expense    4,041     1,127    5,168     3,556     —       3,556  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total operating expenses    115,655     28,137    143,792     78,473     —       78,473  
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Operating income    79,855     2,836    82,691     46,697     —       46,697  
Other expense (income), net       13,049         8,746  

       
 

        
 

Income before provision for income taxes       69,642         37,951  
Provision for income taxes       23,982         13,884  

       
 

        
 

Net income      $ 45,660        $ 24,067  
       

 

        

 

Pro Forma Results of Operations

The unaudited pro forma financial information below summarizes the combined results of operations for MSCI and RiskMetrics for the three months ended
May 31, 2010 as though the companies were combined as of December 1, 2009. The
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unaudited pro forma financial information presented includes transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition as well as the business combination
accounting effects resulting from the acquisition including the amortization charges from acquired intangible assets, adjustments to interest income for lower
average cash balances, interest expense for borrowings and the amortization of deferred financing fees, debt discounts and prepaid agency fees and the related tax
effects as though the companies were combined as of December 1, 2009.

The unaudited pro forma financial information for the three months ended May 31, 2010 combine the historical results of MSCI for the three months ended
May 31, 2010 with the historical results of RiskMetrics for the three-month period ended March 31, 2010 (due to differences in reporting periods).

The unaudited pro forma financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that
would have been achieved if the acquisitions and any borrowings undertaken to finance the RiskMetrics acquisition had taken place at December 1, 2009. The
unaudited actual results for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and the unaudited pro forma financial information for the three months ended May 31, 2010
were as follows:
 

   Three Months Ended    

Increase/(Decrease)     

Actual
June 30,

2011    

Pro Forma
May 31,

2010    
   (in thousands)  
Operating revenues   $226,483    $202,216    $24,267    12.0% 
Operating expenses:        

Cost of services    68,840     68,429     411    0.6% 
Selling, general and administrative    53,321     50,291     3,030    6.0% 
Restructuring    40     —       40    n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    16,423     16,180     243    1.5% 
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements    5,168     5,707     (539)   (9.4%) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating expenses    143,792     140,607     3,185    2.3% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
 

Operating income    82,691     61,609     21,082    34.2% 
Other expense (income), net    13,049     17,881     (4,832)   (27.0%) 
Provision for income taxes    23,982     12,915     11,067    85.7% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Net income   $ 45,660    $ 30,813    $14,847    48.2% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Total operating revenues increased $24.3 million, or 12.0%, to $226.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily driven
by higher revenues from MSCI’s core benchmark indices, increased Index and ESG asset based fees and growth within our risk management analytics products.

Cost of services increased $0.4 million, or 0.6%, to $68.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011. Compensation and benefits expenses decreased
$1.6 million to $49.2 million while non-compensation expenses rose by $2.0 million to $68.8 million, driven primarily by higher outside professional costs.

SG&A expense increased $3.0 million, or 6.0%, to $53.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011. Within SG&A, compensation and benefits
expenses increased $3.1 million to $35.9 million. Non-compensation expenses decreased $0.1 million to $17.4 million.

Other expense (income), net decreased $4.8 million, or 27.0%, to $13.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011. The decrease was primarily
driven by lower interest expense incurred as a result of the repricing of our senior secured term loan recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2011.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 Compared to the Six Months Ended May 31, 2010

Results of Operations
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   Six Months Ended   

Increase/(Decrease)     
June 30,

2011   
May 31,

2010   
   (in thousands, except per share data)  
Operating revenues   $449,781   $246,850   $202,931     82.2% 
Operating expenses:       

Cost of services    139,058    59,754    79,304     132.7% 
Selling, general and administrative    104,739    77,638    27,101     34.9% 
Restructuring    4,471    —      4,471     n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    33,115    8,555    24,560     287.1% 
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, and leasehold

improvements    10,278    6,949    3,329     47.9% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

Total operating expenses    291,661    152,896    138,765     90.8% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

Operating income    158,120    93,954    64,166     68.3% 
Other expense (income), net    35,134    12,166    22,968     188.8% 
Provision for income taxes    43,805    30,203    13,602     45.0% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

  

Net income   $ 79,181   $ 51,585   $ 27,596     53.5% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

Earnings per basic common share   $ 0.65   $ 0.48   $ 0.17     35.4% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

Earnings per diluted common share   $ 0.64   $ 0.48   $ 0.16     33.3% 
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

Operating margin    35.2%   38.1%    
    

 
   

 
   

Operating Revenues

The following table summarizes the revenue by product category for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to the six months ended May 31, 2010:
 

   Six Months Ended    

Increase/(Decrease)     
June 30,

2011    
May 31,

2010    
   (in thousands)         
Index and ESG:        

Subscriptions   $128,434    $104,474    $ 23,960    22.9%
Asset based fees    74,156     50,620     23,536    46.5% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total index and ESG products    202,590     155,094     47,496    30.6% 
Risk management analytics    119,672     21,964     97,708    444.9% 
Portfolio management analytics    58,477     61,725     (3,248)   (5.3%) 
Energy and commodity analytics    6,819     8,067     (1,248)   (15.5%) 
Governance    62,223     —       62,223    n/a  

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating revenues   $449,781    $246,850    $202,931    82.2% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
 

Total operating revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2011 increased $202.9 million, or 82.2%, to $449.8 million compared to $246.9 million for the
six months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $165.4 million of the year-over-year growth was comprised of revenues contributed by the acquisitions made
during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $37.5 million of growth was comprised of increases in asset based fees of $22.7
million and subscription revenues of $14.8 million. Our revenues are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to
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the U.S. dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not weakened relative to exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2011
would have been lower by $1.6 million.

Revenues related to index and ESG products increased $47.5 million, or 30.6%, to $202.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to
$155.1 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. Revenues from the index and ESG products subscriptions sub-category were up 22.9% to $128.4 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $104.5 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $9.5 million of the growth in the
index and ESG products subscriptions sub-category was comprised of revenues contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended
November 30, 2010. The remaining $14.5 million increase was attributable to growth primarily in our benchmark products.

Revenues attributable to the index asset based fees products sub-category increased 46.5% to $74.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011
compared to $50.6 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. The increase in the asset based fees products sub-category was primarily driven by the
increased average values of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI equity indices. The average value of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI equity indices in the aggregate
increased 41.3% to $347.2 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $245.8 billion for the six months ended May 31, 2010. As of June 30,
2011, the value of assets in ETFs linked to MSCI equity indices was $360.5 billion, representing an increase of 51.4% from $238.1 billion as of May 31, 2010.
The increase in asset based fees products sub-category also includes the impact of $4.3 million of non-recurring revenue recognized during the six months ended
June 30, 2011.

Revenues related to risk management analytics products increased $97.7 million, or 444.9%, to $119.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011
compared to $22.0 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $92.9 million of the growth was comprised of revenues contributed by the
acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $4.8 million of growth primarily reflects an increase of sales in
our risk analytics products.

Revenues related to portfolio management analytics products decreased $3.2 million, or 5.3%, to $58.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011
compared to $61.7 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. Within portfolio management analytics, equity portfolio analytics decreased $2.8 million to
$56.3 million and fixed income analytics decreased $0.5 million to $2.2 million.

Revenues from energy and commodity analytics products decreased $1.2 million, or 15.5%, to $6.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011
compared to $8.0 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. The decrease is primarily the result of the timing of new and recurring sales.

Governance products contributed approximately $62.2 million to our operating revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The governance product
line was acquired with our purchase of RiskMetrics on June 1, 2010 and had no effect on our results of operations prior to that date.

Aggregate and Core Retention Rates

The following table sets forth our Aggregate Retention Rates by product category for the indicated six months ended as if we had completed the
RiskMetrics acquisition as of the beginning of the periods indicated:
 

   
June 30,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
Index and ESG products    93.9%   92.3% 
Risk management analytics    93.0%   87.7% 
Portfolio management analytics    90.0%   86.7% 
Energy and commodity analytics    82.9%   83.7% 
Governance    87.7%   85.2% 
Total    91.8%   88.4% 

The following table sets forth our Core Retention Rates by product category for the indicated six months ended as if we had completed the RiskMetrics
acquisition as of the beginning of the periods indicated:
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   June 30,  June 30, 
   2011   2010  
Index and ESG products    94.0%   92.9% 
Risk management analytics    93.5%   88.8% 
Portfolio management analytics    91.5%   88.8% 
Energy and commodity analytics    82.9%   83.7% 
Governance    87.7%   85.2% 
Total    92.2%   89.4% 

The Aggregate Retention Rates for any six-month period are calculated by annualizing the cancellations for which we have received a notice of termination
or non-renewal during the period and have determined that such notice evidences the client’s final decision to terminate or not renew the applicable subscription
or agreement, even though such notice is not effective until a later date. This annualized cancellation figure is then divided by the subscription Run Rate at the
beginning of the year to calculate a cancellation rate. This cancellation rate is then subtracted from 100% to derive the annualized Aggregate Retention Rate for
the six-month period. The Aggregate Retention Rate is computed on a product-by-product basis. Therefore, if a client reduces the number of products to which it
subscribes or switches between our products, we treat it as a cancellation. In addition, we treat any reduction in fees resulting from renegotiated contracts as a
cancellation in the calculation to the extent of the reduction. For the calculation of the Core Retention Rate the same methodology is used except the cancellations
during the six-month period are reduced by the amount of product swaps.

Operating Expenses

The following table shows operating expenses by each of the categories:
 

 
  Six Months Ended    

Increase/(Decrease)  
  June 30,    May 31,    

   2011    2010    
   (in thousands)         
Cost of services:      

Compensation and benefits   $101,439    $ 44,721    $ 56,718    126.8% 
Non-compensation expenses    37,619     15,033     22,586    150.2% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total cost of services    139,058     59,754     79,304    132.7% 
Selling, general and administrative:      

Compensation and benefits    72,422     45,069     27,353    60.7% 
Non-compensation expenses    32,317     32,569     (252)   (0.8%) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total selling, general and administrative    104,739     77,638     27,101    34.9% 
Restructuring    4,471     —       4,471    n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    33,115     8,555     24,560    287.1% 
Depreciation of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements    10,278     6,949     3,329    47.9% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating expenses   $291,661    $152,896    $138,765    90.8% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Compensation and benefits   $173,861    $ 89,790    $ 84,071    93.6% 
Non-compensation expenses    69,936     47,602     22,334    46.9% 
Restructuring    4,471     —       4,471    n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    33,115     8,555     24,560    287.1% 
Depreciation of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements    10,278     6,949     3,329    47.9% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Total operating expenses   $291,661    $152,896    $138,765    90.8% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Operating expenses were $291.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of $138.8 million, or 90.8%, compared to $152.9 million for
the six months ended May 31, 2010. We estimate that approximately $127.4 million of the year-over-year increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the
acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $11.4 million increase primarily reflects higher compensation and
benefits. Our operating expenses are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to the U.S. dollar. Had
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the U.S. dollar not weakened relative to exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our operating expense for the six months ended June 30, 2011 would have
been lower by $2.3 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, compensation and benefits costs were $173.9 million, an increase of $84.1 million, or 93.6%, compared to
$89.8 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $71.3 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions
made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $12.8 million increase primarily reflects $9.6 million in higher costs related to
current staff and increased staffing levels and $3.5 million in higher stock based compensation expense, partially offset by $0.3 million in lower post-retirement
and other expense.

Stock based compensation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was $16.1 million, an increase of $5.9 million, or 58.7%, compared to $10.2
million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. The increase included expense associated with a performance award granted in June 2010 to certain of our
employees, the amortization of awards assumed upon the acquisition of RiskMetrics and amortization of restricted stock units granted as a component of the 2010
annual bonus, partially offset by decreased expense associated with the amortization of the Founders Grant Award and restricted stock units granted as a
component of the 2008 and 2009 annual bonus. Approximately $1.7 million and $4.1 million of the stock based compensation expense was related to the
Founders Grant Award for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, approximately $3.8
million was associated with the Performance Award granted in June 2010. The decrease in the expense related to the Founders Grant Award and the 2008 and
2009 annual bonus awards are primarily attributable to the vestings that occurred.

Non-compensation expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was $69.9 million, an increase of $22.3 million, or 46.9%, compared to $47.6 million
for the six months ended May 31, 2010. The increase reflects $24.0 million of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year
ended November 30, 2010 as well as increased outside professional, travel and entertainment and market data costs. Partially offsetting this increase was the fact
that during the six months ended May 31, 2010, we recognized $7.5 million in costs related to the acquisition of RiskMetrics while no similar costs were
recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2011.

Cost of Services

Cost of services includes costs related to our research, data management and production, software engineering and product management functions. Costs in
these areas include staff compensation and benefits, occupancy costs, market data fees and information technology services. Compensation and benefits generally
contribute to a majority of our expense increases from period to period, reflecting increases for existing staff and increased staffing levels.

For the six months ended June 30, 2011, total cost of services increased $79.3 million, or 132.7%, to $139.1 million compared to $59.8 million for the six
months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $66.9 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half
of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $12.4 million increase was largely due to an increase in costs associated with compensation and benefits,
travel and entertainment, information technology, market data, outside professional and occupancy costs.

Compensation and benefits expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 increased $56.7 million to $101.4 million compared to $44.7 million for the
six months ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $48.8 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second
half of the year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $7.9 million increase was largely due to higher costs related to current staff and increased staffing
levels and increased stock based compensation expense, partially offset by lower post-retirement and other expenses.

Non-compensation expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 increased $22.6 million to $37.6 million compared to $15.0 million for the six months
ended May 31, 2010. Approximately $18.1 million of the increase was comprised of expenses contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the
year ended November 30, 2010. The remaining $4.5 million increase was largely due to increased travel and entertainment, information technology, market data,
outside professional and occupancy costs.

Our cost of services expenses are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to the U.S. dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not weakened
relative to exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our cost of services for the six months ended June 30, 2011 would have been lower by $1.0 million.

Selling, General and Administrative
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SG&A includes expenses for our sales and marketing staff, and our finance, human resources, legal and compliance, information technology infrastructure
and corporate administration personnel. As with cost of services, the largest expense in this category relates to compensation and benefits. Other significant
expenses are for occupancy costs, consulting services and information technology costs. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, SG&A was $104.7 million, an
increase of $27.1 million, or 34.9%, compared to $77.6 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. The majority of the increase was comprised of expenses
contributed by the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010.

Compensation and benefits expenses increased $27.3 million to $72.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to $45.1 million for the six
months ended May 30, 2010. Approximately $22.4 million of the increase was the result of the acquisitions made during the second half of the year ended
November 30, 2010. The remaining $4.9 million increase was largely due to higher costs related to current staff and increased staffing levels and increased stock
based compensation expense.

Non-compensation expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 decreased $0.3 million to $32.3 million compared to $32.6 million for the six months
ended May 31, 2010. In the six months ended May 31, 2010, we recognized $7.5 million in costs related to the acquisition of RiskMetrics while no similar costs
were recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2011. In addition to this decrease, we recognized lower information technology and miscellaneous taxes
and license fees during the six months ended June 30, 2011. Partially offsetting this decrease were higher outside professional and travel and entertainment
expenses.

Our SG&A expenses are impacted by changes in exchange rates primarily as they relate to the U.S. dollar. Had the U.S. dollar not weakened relative to
exchange rates at the beginning of the year, our SG&A expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 would have been lower by $1.1 million.

Restructuring

During the year ended November 30, 2010, MSCI’s management approved, committed to and initiated a plan to restructure the Company’s operations due
to its acquisition of RiskMetrics. Restructuring includes expenses associated with the elimination of overlapping positions and duplicative occupancy costs and
the termination of overlapping vendor contracts. Restructuring expense was $4.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Approximately $0.5 million of
the expense was associated with the elimination of overlapping positions and $3.9 million of the expense was associated with eliminating duplicative occupancy
costs.

Amortization of Intangibles

Amortization of intangibles expense relates to the intangible assets arising from the acquisition of Barra in June 2004, RiskMetrics in June 2010 and
Measurisk in July 2010. Amortization of intangibles expense totaled $33.1 million and $8.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010,
respectively. The increase of $24.5 million was the result of increased amortization associated with the acquisitions of RiskMetrics and Measurisk made during
the second half of the year ended November 30, 2010.

Depreciation and Amortization of Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements totaled $10.3 million and $6.9 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The increase is primarily the result of depreciating equipment associated with the acquisitions made during the
second half of the year ended November 30, 2010.

Other Expense (Income), Net

Other expense (income), net for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was $35.1 million, an increase of $23.0 million compared to $12.2 million for the six
months ended May 31, 2010. The increase primarily reflects higher interest expense resulting from the term loan we entered into on June 1, 2010 as part of our
acquisition of RiskMetrics and lower interest income.
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Income Taxes

The provision for income tax expense for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was $43.8 million, an increase of $13.6 million, or 45.0%, compared to
$30.2 million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. This increase is primarily due to higher taxable income resulting from the acquisitions made during the
second half of the year ended November 30, 2010. These amounts reflect effective tax rates of 35.6% and 36.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and
May 31, 2010, respectively. The effective tax rate of 35.6% for the six months ended June 30, 2011 reflects our estimate of the effective tax rate for the period,
adjusted for several discrete items recognized during the period.

Segment Results of Operations

The results of operations by segment for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 are as follows:
 
   Six Months Ended June 30, 2011    Six Months Ended May 31, 2010  

   
Performance

and Risk    Governance   Total    
Performance

and Risk    Governance   Total  
Operating revenues   $ 387,558    $ 62,223    $449,781    $ 246,850    $ —      $246,850  
Cost of services    107,758     31,300     139,058     59,754     —       59,754  
Selling, general and administrative    90,476     14,263     104,739     77,638     —       77,638  
Restructuring    2,388     2,083     4,471     —       —       —    
Amortization of intangible assets    26,415     6,700     33,115     8,555     —       8,555  
Depreciation expense    8,020     2,258     10,278     6,949     —       6,949  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total operating expenses    235,057     56,604     291,661     152,896     —       152,896  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Operating income    152,501     5,619     158,120     93,954     —       93,954  
Other expense (income), net        35,134         12,166  

        
 

        
 

Income before provision for income taxes        122,986         81,788  
Provision for income taxes        43,805         30,203  

        
 

        
 

Net income       $ 79,181        $ 51,585  
        

 

        

 

Pro Forma Results of Operations

The unaudited pro forma financial information below summarizes the combined results of operations for MSCI and RiskMetrics for the six months ended
May 31, 2010 as though the companies were combined as of December 1, 2009. The unaudited pro forma financial information presented includes transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition as well as the business combination accounting effects resulting from the acquisition, including the amortization
charges from acquired intangible assets, adjustments to interest income for lower average cash balances, interest expense for borrowings and the amortization of
deferred financing fees, debt discounts and prepaid agency fees and the related tax effects as though the companies were combined as of December 1, 2009.

The unaudited pro forma financial information for the six months ended May 31, 2010 combine the historical results of MSCI for the six months ended
May 31, 2010 with the historical results of RiskMetrics for the three-month period ended December 31, 2009 and the historical results of RiskMetrics for the
three-month period ended March 31, 2010 (due to differences in reporting periods).

The unaudited pro forma financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that
would have been achieved if the acquisitions and any borrowings undertaken to finance the RiskMetrics acquisition had taken place at December 1, 2009. The
unaudited actual results for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and the unaudited pro forma financial information for the six months ended May 31, 2010 were as
follows:
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   Six Months Ended    

Increase/(Decrease) 

   Actual    Pro Forma    
    

 
    

 
  

   
June 30,

2011    
May 31,

2010    
   (in thousands)  
Operating revenues   $449,781    $400,368    $ 49,413    12.3% 
Operating expenses:        

Cost of services    139,058     134,067     4,991    3.7% 
Selling, general and administrative    104,739     100,376     4,363    4.3% 
Restructuring    4,471     —       4,471    n/a  
Amortization of intangible assets    33,115     32,360     755    2.3% 
Depreciation and amortization of property, equipment, and leasehold

improvements    10,278     11,196     (918)   (8.2%) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
 

Total operating expenses    291,661     277,999     13,662    4.9% 
    

 
    

 
    

 
 

Operating income    158,120     122,369     35,751    29.2% 
Other expense (income), net    35,134     34,926     208    0.6% 
Provision for income taxes    43,805     28,096     15,709    55.9% 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Net income   $ 79,181    $ 59,347    $ 19,834    33.4% 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

Total operating revenues increased $49.4 million, or 12.3%, to $449.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily driven
by higher revenues from MSCI’s core benchmark indices and higher usage fees within our index and ESG subscription sub-category, increased index and ESG
asset based fees and growth within our risk management analytics products.

Cost of services increased $5.0 million, or 3.7%, to $139.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Compensation and benefits expenses increased
$1.8 million to $101.4 million. Non-compensation expenses rose by $3.2 million to $37.6 million, primarily driven by higher market data and outside professional
costs.

SG&A expense increased $4.4 million, or 4.3%, to $104.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Within SG&A, compensation and benefits
expenses increased $7.8 million to $72.4 million. Non-compensation expenses decreased $3.4 million to $32.3 million. The decrease in non-compensation
expenses was primarily driven by lower taxes and license fees as well as lower information technology, travel and entertainment and marketing costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 1, “Introduction and Basis of Presentation,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2010 and also in Note 2, “Recent Accounting Standards Updates,” in Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements included herein. We discuss our critical accounting estimates in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations in our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2010. There were no significant changes in our accounting policies
or critical accounting estimates since the end of the fiscal year ended November 30, 2010.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We require capital to fund ongoing operations, internal growth initiatives and acquisitions. Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows generated from
our operations, proceeds from the maturity and sale of our short-term investments, existing cash and cash equivalents and credit capacity under our credit
facilities. We intend to use these sources of liquidity to service our existing and future debt obligations and fund our working capital requirements, capital
expenditures, investments and acquisitions. In connection with our business strategy, we regularly evaluate acquisition opportunities. We believe our liquidity,
along with other financing alternatives, will provide the necessary capital to fund these transactions and achieve our planned growth.

On June 1, 2010, we entered into a senior secured credit agreement with Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., as administrative agent, Morgan Stanley &
Co. Incorporated, as collateral agent, and the other lenders party thereto, which was comprised of (i) a $1,275.0 million six-year term loan facility (the “2010
Term Loan”) and (ii) a $100.0 million five-year revolving credit facility, which included a $25.0 million letter of credit subfacility and a $10.0 million swingline
loan
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subfacility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the 2010 Term Loan, the “New Credit Facility”). We were required to repay 1.00% of the principal
of the 2010 Term Loan per year in quarterly installments. The credit facility also contained a number of mandatory prepayment requirements, including a
requirement to repay a specified amount of the 2010 Term Loan annually from a portion of our excess cash flows (as defined in the credit facility, which varied
based on our leverage ratio). Any remaining principal of the 2010 Term Loan was to be payable on the final maturity date of the facility. In February 2011, we
made a prepayment of $56.0 million on the 2010 Term Loan from our excess cash flows.

On March 14, 2011, we completed the repricing of the existing senior secured term loan facility under the New Credit Facility pursuant to Amendment
No. 2 to the New Credit Facility (“Amendment No. 2”). Amendment No. 2 provided for the incurrence of a new senior secured loan (the “2011 Term Loan”) in an
aggregate principal amount of $1,125.0 million. The proceeds of the 2011 Term Loan, together with $87.6 million of cash on hand, were used to repay the
remaining $1,212.6 million outstanding balance of the 2010 Term Loan in full.

The 2011 Term Loan matures in March 2017. The Revolving Credit Facility matures in June 2015 and is available to fund our working capital
requirements and for other general corporate purposes. Amendment No. 2 decreased the interest rate applicable to the 2011 Term Loan from LIBOR plus 3.25%
(with a leverage-based stepdown) to LIBOR plus 2.75% (with a leverage-based stepdown) and reduced the LIBOR floor applicable to the 2011 Term Loan from
1.50% to 1.00%. Prepayments or amendments of the 2011 Term Loan that constitute a “repricing transaction” (as defined in Amendment No. 2) will be subject to
a premium of 1.00% of the 2011 Term Loan if prepaid or amended on or prior to March 14, 2012. Prepayments and repricings made after March 14, 2012 will not
be subject to premium or penalty. Amendment No. 2 contains a number of mandatory prepayment requirements, including a requirement to repay a specified
amount of the 2011 Term Loan annually from a portion of our excess cash flows (as defined in the credit facility, which varies based on our leverage ratio). For
unused credit under the Revolving Credit Facility, we pay an annual 0.75% non-usage fee.

We primarily use interest rate swaps as part of our interest rate risk management strategy. During the six months ending June 30, 2011, such derivatives
were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt. As a result of the repayment of the 2010 Term Loan on March 14, 2011, we
discontinued prospective hedge accounting on our then-existing interest rate swaps as they no longer met hedge accounting requirements. We will continue to
report the net loss related to the discontinued cash flow hedges in Other Comprehensive Income and expect to reclassify this amount into earnings during the
contractual term of the swap agreements.

On March 22, 2011, we terminated our then-existing interest rate swaps and simultaneously entered into new interest rate swaps to hedge the 2011 Term
Loan variable-rate debt. As of June 30, 2011, we had two outstanding interest rate swaps with a combined notional principal amount of $421.9 million that were
designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk.

The effective combined rate on our hedged and unhedged debt was 3.92% for the six months ended June 30, 2011.

The obligations under the New Credit Facility, as amended, are guaranteed by each of our direct and indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, subject
to limited exceptions. The obligations under the New Credit Facility, as amended, are secured by a lien on substantially all of the equity interests of our present
and future domestic subsidiaries, up to 65% of the equity interests of our first-tier foreign subsidiaries, and substantially all of our and our domestic subsidiaries’
present and future property and assets, subject to certain exceptions.

The New Credit Facility, as amended, contains affirmative and restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit our ability and our existing or future
subsidiaries’ abilities to:
 

 •  incur liens and further negative pledges;
 

 •  incur additional indebtedness or prepay, redeem or repurchase indebtedness;
 

 •  make loans or hold investments;
 

 •  merge, dissolve, liquidate, consolidate with or into another person;
 

 •  enter into acquisition transactions;
 

 •  make capital expenditures;
 

 •  issuance of disqualified capital stock;
 

 •  sell, transfer or dispose of assets;
 

 •  pay dividends or make other distributions in respect of our capital stock or engage in stock repurchases, redemptions and other restricted payments;
 

 •  create new subsidiaries;
 

 •  permit certain restrictions affecting our subsidiaries;
 

 •  change the nature of our business, accounting policies or fiscal periods;
 

 •  enter into any transactions with affiliates other than on an arm’s length basis;
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 •  modify or waive material documents; and
 

 •  prepay, redeem or repurchase debt.

The New Credit Facility, as amended, also requires us to achieve specified financial and operating results and maintain compliance with the following
financial ratios on a consolidated basis: (1) a maximum total leverage ratio (as defined in the credit facility, as amended) measured quarterly on a rolling four-
quarter basis shall not exceed (a) 4.00:1.00 through March 31, 2011, (b) 3.75:1.00 from April 1, 2011 through June 30, 2011, (c) 3.50:1.00 from July 1, 2011
through September 30, 2011, and (d) 3.25:1.00 thereafter; and (2) a minimum interest coverage ratio (as defined in the credit facility, as amended) measured
quarterly on a rolling four-quarter basis shall be (a) 4.50:1.00 through March 31, 2011, and (b) 5.00:1.00 thereafter. As of June 30, 2011, our Consolidated
Leverage Ratio as defined in the Credit Facility was 2.66:1.00 and our Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as defined in the credit facility was 6.88:1.00.

The New Credit Facility, as amended, also contains customary events of default, including those relating to non-payment, breach of representations,
warranties or covenants, cross-default and cross-acceleration, bankruptcy and insolvency events, invalidity or impairment of loan documentation or collateral,
change of control and customary ERISA defaults.

Cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents
 

   As of  

   
June 30,

2011    
November 30,

2010  
   (in thousands)  
Cash and cash equivalents   $175,895    $ 226,575  

Cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities
 

   For the Six Months Ended  

   
June 30,

2011   
May 31,

2010  
   (in thousands)  
Cash provided by operating activities   $ 80,246   $ 55,104  
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities   $ (44,978)  $ 229,862  
Cash used in financing activities   $(132,974)  $(308,413) 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   $ 4,178   $ (429) 

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities consist of net income adjusted for certain non-cash items and changes in assets and liabilities. Cash provided by
operating activities was $80.2 million and $55.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The $25.1 million year-over-year
increase primarily reflects decreased payments for cash compensation and income taxes.

Our primary uses of cash from operating activities are for the payment of cash compensation expenses, office rent, technology costs, market data costs,
interest expenses and income taxes. The payment of cash for compensation and benefits is historically at its highest level in the first quarter when we pay
discretionary employee compensation related to the previous fiscal year.

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $45.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 compared to cash provided by investing activities of $229.9
million for the six months ended May 31, 2010. The year-over-year change of $274.8 million primarily reflects the decreased proceeds from the maturation of
short-term investments during the six months ended June 30, 2011. During the six months ended May 31, 2010, the proceeds from the maturation of short-term
investments were used to pay down the then-existing debt facility and held as cash in preparation of funding the closing of the RiskMetrics acquisition.
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Cash flows from financing activities

Cash used in financing activities was $133.0 million and $308.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The year-
over-year change primarily reflects cash payments made to service and refinance the credit facility entered into in connection with the acquisition of RiskMetrics,
partially offset by increased proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and excess tax benefits related to the exercise of options and the conversion of
restricted stock units and restricted stock awards that occurred during the six months ended June 30, 2011.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special
purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited
purposes.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange fluctuation risk. Exchange rate movements can impact the U.S. dollar reported value of our revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies or where the currency of such items is different than the functional currency of the
entity where these items were recorded.

A significant portion of our revenues from our index linked investment products are based on fees earned on the value of assets invested in securities
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. For all operations outside the United States where the Company has designated the local non-U.S. dollar
currency as the functional currency, revenue and expenses are translated using average monthly exchange rates and assets and liabilities are translated into U.S.
dollars using month-end exchange rates. For these operations, currency translation adjustments arising from a change in the rate of exchange between the
functional currency and the U.S. dollar are accumulated in a separate component of shareholders’ equity. In addition, transaction gains and losses arising from a
change in exchange rates for transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity are reflected in other income.

Revenues from index-linked investment products represented approximately $74.2 million, or 16.5%, and $50.6 million, or 20.5%, of our operating
revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. While our fees for index-linked investment products are generally invoiced in
U.S. dollars, the fees are based on the investment product’s assets, substantially all of which are invested in securities denominated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar. Accordingly, declines in such other currencies against the U.S. dollar will decrease the fees payable to us under such licenses. In addition, declines in
such currencies against the U.S. dollar could impact the attractiveness of such investment products resulting in net fund outflows, which would further reduce the
fees payable under such licenses.

We generally invoice our clients in U.S. dollars; however, we invoice a portion of clients in euros, pounds sterling, Japanese yen and a limited number of
other non-U.S. dollar currencies. Approximately $59.7 million, or 13.3%, and $30.5 million, or 13.6%, of our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2011
and May 31, 2010, respectively, were denominated in foreign currencies, the majority of which were in euros, pounds sterling and Japanese yen.

We are exposed to additional foreign currency risk in certain of our operating costs. Approximately $99.8 million, or 34.3%, and $51.0 million, or 34.7%,
of our expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively, were denominated in foreign currencies, the significant majority of which
were denominated in Swiss francs, pounds sterling, Hong Kong dollars, euros, Hungarian forints, Indian rupees, Japanese yen and Mexican pesos. Expenses paid
in foreign currency may increase as we expand our business outside the U.S.

We have certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than local functional amounts and when these balances were remeasured
into their local functional currency, either a gain or a loss resulted from the change of the value of the functional currency as compared to the originating
currencies. As a result of these positions, we recognized foreign currency exchange gains of $0.1 million and foreign currency exchange losses $0.1 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. These amounts were recorded in “other expense (income)” in our Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Income. Although we do not currently hedge the foreign exchange risk of assets and liabilities
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denominated in currencies other than the functional currency, we minimize exposure by reducing the value of the assets and liabilities in currencies other than the
functional currency of the legal entity in which they are located.

To the extent that our international activities recorded in local currencies increase in the future, our exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates will
correspondingly increase. Generally, we do not use derivative financial instruments as a means of hedging this risk; however, we may do so in the future. Foreign
currency cash balances held overseas are generally kept at levels necessary to meet current operating and capitalization needs.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaling $175.9 million at June 30, 2011 and $226.6 million at November 30, 2010, respectively. These
amounts were held primarily in checking and money market accounts in the countries where we maintain banking relationships. The unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents are held for working capital purposes. At June 30, 2011 and November 30, 2010, we had invested $111.2 million and $73.9 million, respectively, in
debt securities with maturity dates ranging from 91 to 365 days from the date of purchase. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes.
We believe we do not have any material exposure to changes in fair value as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, will reduce
future interest income.

Borrowings under the credit facility, as amended, bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of the greater of the LIBOR and 1.00%, and a margin of 2.75%,
which margin will be subject to adjustment based on our leverage ratio.

The Company entered into interest rate swap agreements which will be amortized through August 2013. The swap agreements were designated as cash
flow hedges of interest rate risk and qualify for hedge accounting treatment under ASC Subtopic 815-10. Changes in LIBOR will affect the interest rate on the
portion of our credit facilities which have not been hedged by the interest rate swaps and, therefore, our costs under the credit facilities. Assuming an average of
$700.3 million of variable rate debt outstanding, a hypothetical 175 basis point increase in LIBOR for a one year period would result in approximately $7.0
million of additional interest rate expense.

We recorded a pre-tax loss in other comprehensive income of $2.5 million ($1.5 million after tax) for the six months ended June 30, 2011 as a result of the
fair value measurement of these swaps. The fair value of these swaps is included in other accrued liabilities on our Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”), as of June 30, 2011 and have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. These disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

There were no changes during the three months ended June 30, 2011 in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Various lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been or may be instituted or asserted against the Company, which arise in the ordinary course of business. While
the amounts claimed could be substantial, the ultimate liability cannot now be determined because of the considerable uncertainties that exist. Therefore, it is
possible that MSCI’s business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows in a particular period could be materially affected by certain contingencies.
However, based on facts currently available, management believes that the disposition of matters that are currently pending or asserted will not, individually or in
the aggregate, have a material effect on MSCI’s business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors

For a discussion of the risk factors affecting the Company, see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2010.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

There have been no unregistered sales of equity securities.

The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of the Company of its common shares during the quarter ended
June 30, 2011.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

Period   
Total Number of

Shares Purchased   
Average Price Paid

Per Share    

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
As Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs    

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased Under the

Plans or Programs  
Month #1
(April 1, 2011-April 30, 2011)

Employee Transactions    503    $ 34.52     N/A     N/A  
Month #2
(May 1, 2011-July, 2011)

Employee Transactions    —      $ —       N/A     N/A  
Month #3
(June 1, 2011-June 30, 2011)

Employee Transactions    8    $ 37.77     N/A     N/A  
    

 
      

Total Employee Transactions    511    $ 34.57     N/A     N/A  
    

 

      

 
 Includes shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations on behalf of employees that occur upon vesting and delivery of outstanding shares

underlying restricted stock units. The value of the shares withheld were determined using the fair market value of the Company’s class A common shares
on the date of withholding, using a valuation methodology established by the Company.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
 
Item 5. Other Information

None.
 
Item 6. Exhibits

An exhibit index has been filed as part of this Report on page E-1.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 5, 2011
 

MSCI INC.
(Registrant)

By:  /s/    DAVID M. OBSTLER        
 David M. Obstler
 Principal Financial Officer and Authorized Signatory
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EXHIBIT INDEX

MSCI INC.
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Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-33812), filed with the SEC
on February 28, 2008)

 

    3.2
  

Amended and Restated By-laws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-33812), filed with the SEC on February 28,
2008)

*    10.1   MSCI Inc. Independent Directors Deferral Plan

*
 

  10.43
  

RiskMetrics Group, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (originally filed as Exhibit 99.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-8 (File No. 333-165888), filed with the SEC on June 3, 2010)

 

  11

  

Statement Re: Computation of Earnings Per Common share (The calculation per share earnings is in Part I, Item I, Note 5 to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements (Earnings Per Common Share) and is omitted in accordance with Section (b)(11) of Item 601 of Regulation S-
K

*    15   Letter of awareness from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated August 5, 2011, concerning unaudited interim financial information

**    31.1   Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

**    31.2   Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

**    32.1   Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
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Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition—March 31,
2011 and November 30, 2010, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income—Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and May 31,
2010, (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010 and (vi) Notes to
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

 
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
*** As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933

and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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Exhibit 10.1

MSCI INC.
INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS DEFERRAL PLAN

SECTION 1. Purpose. The purpose of the MSCI Inc. Independent Directors Deferral Plan (the “Plan”) is to attract and retain the services of experienced
independent directors for MSCI Inc. (the “Company”) by providing them with opportunities to defer income taxes on their compensation. This Plan is
established under Section 6 of the MSCI Independent Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan (the “IDECP”)

SECTION 2. Definitions. Unless otherwise defined in the Plan, capitalized terms used in the Plan shall have the meanings assigned to them in the IDECP.

SECTION 3. Eligibility. Each Eligible Director shall be entitled to participate in the Plan. Each such Eligible Director who makes a deferral under the Plan
is referred to herein as a “Participant”.

SECTION 4. Administration. The Plan shall be administered by the Board. Subject to the terms of the Plan and applicable law, the Board shall have full
power and authority to: (i) designate Eligible Directors for participation; (ii) determine the terms and conditions of any deferral made under the Plan; (iii) interpret
and administer the Plan and any instrument or agreement relating to, or deferral made under, the Plan; (iv) establish, amend, suspend or waive such rules and
regulations and appoint such agents as it shall deem appropriate for the proper administration of the Plan and (v) make any other determination and take any other
action that the Board deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan. To the extent legally permitted, the Board may, in its discretion, delegate to
the Chief Administrative Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Secretary of the Company, the Head of Human Resources or to one or more officers of the
Company any or all authority and responsibility to act with respect to administrative matters with respect to the Plan. The determination of the Board on all
matters within its authority relating to the Plan shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all parties, including the Company, its shareholders and the
Participants.

SECTION 5. Deferrals.

(a) Deferral Elections. Each Participant may elect to defer receipt of all or any portion of any (i) shares of Stock issuable upon conversion of any Stock
Unit granted to such Participant pursuant to Section 5 of the IDECP (a “Deferred Stock Unit”) or (ii) Retainer (which may be paid in cash or shares of Stock)
granted to such Participant pursuant to Section 7 of the IDECP (a “Deferred Retainer”). The date on which any such shares of Stock were scheduled to be



issued to such Participant, and/or the date on which any such Retainer was scheduled to be to paid to such Participant, in each case had such Participant not
deferred receipt of such shares of Stock and/or Retainer, is referred to herein as the “Scheduled Payment Date”.

(b) Election Forms. A Participant’s deferral election shall be made in the form of a document (an “Election Form”) established for such purpose by the
Board that is executed by such Participant and filed with the Company. The Election Form will require such Participant to specify:

(i) the portion of any shares of Stock issuable upon conversion of any Stock Unit and/or the portion of the Retainer that will be deferred;

(ii) in the case of a Deferred Retainer, whether distribution will be made to such Participant in cash or shares of Stock; and

(iii) the time at which the deferred cash or shares of Stock will be distributed to such Participant, which time may be (x) a specified date,
(y) termination of such Participant’s service from the Board or (z) a specified date following such termination.

Each Election Form will remain in effect until superseded or revoked pursuant to this Section 5.

(c) Timing of Elections.

(i) Subject to Section 5(c)(ii), an Election Form executed by a Participant shall apply to any Stock Unit or Retainer that is granted to such Participant
at any time following the end of the year in which such Election Form is executed.

(ii) An Election Form filed by a Participant within 30 days after such Participant becomes eligible to participate in the Plan shall apply to any Stock
Unit or Retainer that is granted to such Participant or relates to services performed following the date on which such Participant executes such Election
Form.

(d) Subsequent Election Forms. A Participant who has an Election Form on file with the Company may execute and file with the Company a subsequent
Election Form at any time. Such subsequent Election Form shall apply to any Stock Unit or Retainer that is granted to such Participant following the end of the
year in which such subsequent Election Form is executed.

(e) Revoking Election Forms. A Participant may revoke an Election Form at any time by providing written notice to the Secretary of the Company.
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Such revocation shall apply to any Stock Unit or Retainer that is granted to such Participant following the year in which such notice is provided.

(f) Redeferrals. Not later than 12 months prior to the date on which a Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer is scheduled to be distributed to a
Participant, such Participant may elect to redefer such Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer to a date that is not less than five years after the scheduled
distribution date. Such redeferral election shall be made in the form of a document established for such purpose by the Board that is executed by such Participant
and filed with the Secretary of the Company.

(g) Vesting. Each Deferred Stock Unit and each Deferred Retainer shall be fully vested and non-forfeitable at all times from the applicable Scheduled
Payment Date.

SECTION 6. Timing and Form of Distribution.

(a) Subject to this Section 6, distribution with respect to a Participant’s Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer shall be made to such Participant in a
single lump sum at the time specified on the applicable Election Form.

(b) The Board, in its sole discretion, may accelerate the distribution of a Participant’s Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer if such Participant
experiences an unforeseeable emergency or hardship, provided that such distribution complies with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”).

(c) All of a Participant’s Deferred Stock Units and Deferred Retainers shall be distributed to such Participant upon a Change in Control or such
Participant’s death or “permanent and total disability” (as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code).

A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred if any of the following conditions shall have been satisfied:

(i) any one person or more than one person acting as a group (as determined under Section 409A of the Code), other than (A) any employee plan
established by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (B) the Company or any of its affiliates (as defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)), (C) an underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to an offering of such securities, or (D) a
corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the Company, is or
becomes, during any 12-month period, the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company
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(not including in the securities beneficially owned by such person(s) any securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates other than in
connection with the acquisition by the Company or its affiliates of a business) representing 30% or more of the total voting power of the stock of the
Company; provided, however, that the provisions of this subsection (i) are not intended to apply to or include as a Change in Control any transaction that is
specifically excepted from the definition of Change in Control under subsection (iii) below;

(ii) a change in the composition of the Board such that, during any 12-month period, the individuals who, as of the beginning of such period,
constitute the Board (the “Existing Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least 50% of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming
a member of the Board subsequent to the beginning of such period whose election, or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders, was
approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors immediately prior to the date of such appointment or election shall be considered as though such
individual were a member of the Existing Board; and provided, further, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, no individual whose initial
assumption of office occurs as a result of either an actual or threatened election contest (as such terms are used in Rule 14a-11 or Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act or successor statutes or rules containing analogous concepts) or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or
consents by or on behalf of an individual, corporation, partnership, group, associate or other entity or “person” other than the Board, shall in any event be
considered to be a member of the Existing Board;

(iii) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation or other entity, or the issuance of voting securities in
connection with a merger or consolidation of the Company (or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company) pursuant to applicable stock exchange
requirements; provided that immediately following such merger or consolidation the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior
thereto do not continue to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity of such merger or
consolidation or parent entity thereof) 50% or more of the total voting power of the Company stock (or if the Company is not the surviving entity of such
merger or consolidation, 50% or more of the total voting power of the stock of such surviving entity or parent entity thereof); and provided, further, that a
merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person (as determined under
Section 409A of the Code) is or becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company (not
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including in the securities beneficially owned by such person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates other than in connection
with the acquisition by the Company or its affiliates of a business) representing 50% or more of either the then outstanding shares of the Company common
stock or the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding voting securities shall not be considered a Change in Control; or

(iv) the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in which any one person or more than one person acting
as a group (as determined under Section 409A of the Code) acquires (or has acquired during the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent
acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to more than 50% of the total gross fair
market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (1) no Change in Control shall be deemed to have occurred if there is consummated any transaction or series of integrated
transactions immediately following which the record holders of the Company common stock immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions
continue to have substantially the same proportionate ownership in an entity which owns substantially all of the assets of the Company immediately prior
to such transaction or series of transactions and (2) no event or circumstances described in any of clauses (i) through (iv) above shall constitute a Change in
Control unless such event or circumstances also constitute a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company, or in the ownership of a
substantial portion of the Company’s assets, as defined in Section 409A and the regulations and guidance thereunder. In addition, no Change in Control
shall be deemed to have occurred upon the acquisition of additional control of the Company by any one person or more than one person acting as a group
that is considered to effectively control the Company.

Terms used in the definition of a Change in Control shall be as defined or interpreted pursuant to Section 409A of the Code.

(d) If the Board considers a Participant to be one of the Company’s “specified employees” under Section 409A of the Code at the time of such Participant’s
termination of service from the Board, any distribution that otherwise would be made to such Participant as a result of such termination from service shall not be
made until the date that is six months after such termination of service, except to the extent that earlier distribution would not result in such Participant’s incurring
interest or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code.
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(e) Each Deferred Stock Unit shall be distributed in shares of Stock. Each Deferred Retainer shall be distributed in cash or shares of Stock, as specified on
the applicable Election Form. Notwithstanding the foregoing, cash shall be distributed in lieu of any fractional shares of Stock that otherwise would have been
distributed.

SECTION 7. Amount of Distribution.

(a) Distribution in Shares.

(i) Each Deferred Stock Unit and each Deferred Retainer that is scheduled to be distributed in shares of Stock shall be allocated to a separate
bookkeeping account (a “Share Account”) established and maintained by the Plan Administrator to record the number of shares of Stock to which such
Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer relates. In the case of a Deferred Stock Unit, the Share Account shall reflect the number of shares of Stock
deferred. In the case of a Deferred Retainer, the Share Account shall reflect a number of shares of Stock determined by dividing the applicable amount of
the Retainer by the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the Scheduled Payment Date, with the value of any fractional shares paid to the Participant in
cash on the Scheduled Payment Date.

(ii) Until the distribution date applicable to a Participant’s Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer that is scheduled to be distributed in shares of
Stock, if the Company pays a regular or ordinary cash dividend on its Stock, the Share Account shall be credited with a number of shares of Stock
determined by dividing the amount of the cash dividend by the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the dividend payment date, with the value of any
fractional shares paid to the Participant in cash on the dividend payment date.

(iii) In the event of any merger, reorganization, recapitalization, consolidation, sale or other distribution of substantially all of the assets of the
Company, any stock dividend, split, spin-off, split-up, split-off, distribution of cash, securities or other property by the Company, or other change in the
Company’s corporate structure affecting the Stock, each Share Account shall be automatically adjusted to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or
potential benefits intended to be awarded under the IDECP.

(iv) On the distribution date applicable to a Participant’s Deferred Stock Unit or Deferred Retainer that is scheduled to be distributed in shares of
Stock, such Participant shall receive that number of shares of Stock equal to the number of shares credited to the applicable
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Share Account as of such distribution date.

(b) Distribution in Cash.

(i) A Deferred Retainer that is scheduled to be distributed to a Participant in cash shall be allocated to a separate bookkeeping account (a “Cash
Account”) established and maintained by the Board to record the value of such Deferred Retainer. Such Cash Account shall be deemed to have realized
applicable investment earnings or losses based on the performance of the investment reference or references selected by such Participant from among the
investment references made available under the Plan by the Plan Administrator from time to time. Such deemed investment earnings or losses shall be
credited or debited to such Cash Account as of the end of each calendar quarter.

(ii) On the distribution date applicable to a Participant’s Deferred Retainer, such Participant shall receive an amount in cash equal to the value of such
Participant’s Cash Account as of the end of the calendar quarter immediately preceding or ending on such distribution date.

SECTION 8. General Provisions Applicable to Deferrals.

(a) Except as may be permitted by the Board, (i) no deferral and no right under such deferral shall be assignable, alienable, saleable or transferable by a
Participant otherwise than by will or pursuant to Section 8(b) and (ii) during a Participant’s lifetime, each deferral, and each right under such deferral, shall be
exercisable only by such Participant or, if permissible under applicable law, by such Participant’s guardian or legal representative. The provisions of this
Section 8(a) shall not apply to any deferral that has been distributed to a Participant.

(b) A Participant may make a written designation of beneficiary or beneficiaries to receive all or part of the distributions under this Plan in the event of
death at such times prescribed by the Board by using forms and following procedures approved or accepted by the Board for that purpose. Any shares of Stock or
cash amounts that become payable upon a Participant’s death, and as to which a designation of beneficiary is not in effect, will be distributed to such Participant’s
estate.

(c) Following distribution of shares of Stock a Participant will be the beneficial owner of the net shares of Stock issued to such Participant, and will be
entitled to all rights of ownership, including voting rights and the right to receive cash or stock dividends or other distributions paid on the Stock. The Company
may, if it determines it is appropriate, affix any legend to the stock certificates representing shares of Stock issued in accordance with the Plan (and any stock
certificates that may subsequently be issued in substitution for the original certificates). The
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Company may advise the transfer agent to place a stop order against such shares of Stock if it determines that such an order is necessary or advisable.

SECTION 9. Amendments and Termination.

(a) The Board, in its sole discretion, may amend, suspend or discontinue the Plan or any deferral at any time; provided that no such amendment, suspension
or discontinuance shall reduce the accrued benefit of any Participant except to the extent necessary to comply with any Legal Requirement. The Board further has
the right, without a Participant’s consent, to amend or modify the terms of the Plan and such Participant’s deferral to the extent that the Board deems it necessary
to avoid adverse or unintended tax consequences to such Participant under federal, state or local income tax laws.

(b) The Board, in its sole discretion, may terminate the Plan at any time, as long as such termination complies with then applicable tax and other
requirements.

(c) Such other changes to deferrals shall be permitted and honored under the Plan to the extent authorized by the Board and consistent with Code
Section 409A.

SECTION 10. Miscellaneous.

(a) No Eligible Director or other person shall have any claim to be entitled to make a deferral under the Plan, and there is no obligation for uniformity of
treatment of Participants or Beneficiaries under the Plan. The terms and conditions of deferrals under the Plan need not be the same with respect to each
Participant.

(b) The opportunity to make a deferral under the Plan shall not be construed as giving a Participant the right to be retained in the service of the Board or the
Company. A Participant’s deferral under the Plan is not intended to confer any rights on such Participant except as set forth in the Plan and the applicable Election
Form.

(c) Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Company from adopting or continuing in effect other or additional compensation arrangements, and
such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases.

(d) The Company shall be authorized to withhold from any distribution under the Plan or from any compensation or other amount owing to a Participant
the amount (in cash, shares of Stock, other property, net settlement, or any combination thereof) of applicable withholding taxes due in respect of such
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distribution and to take such other action (including providing for elective payment of such amounts in cash or shares of Stock by such Participant) as may be
necessary in the opinion of the Company to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes.

(e) If any provision of the Plan or any Election Form is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, or as to any
person or deferral, or would disqualify the Plan or any deferral under any law deemed applicable by the Board, such provision shall be construed or deemed
amended to conform to applicable laws, or if it cannot be so construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Board, materially altering the
intent of the Plan or such Election Form, such provision shall be stricken as to such jurisdiction, person or deferral, and the remainder of the Plan and such
Election Form shall remain in full force and effect.

SECTION 11. Effective Date of the Plan. The Plan shall be effective as of the date on which the Plan is adopted by the Board.

SECTION 12. Unfunded Status of the Plan. The Plan is unfunded. The Plan, together with the applicable Election Form, shall represent at all times an
unfunded and unsecured contractual obligation of the Company. Each Participant and beneficiary will be an unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to all
obligations owed to them under the Plan. Amounts payable under the Plan will be satisfied solely out of the general assets of the Company subject to the claims
of its creditors. No Participant or beneficiary will have any interest in any fund or in any specific asset of the Company of any kind, nor shall such Participant or
beneficiary or any other person have any right to receive any payment or distribution under the Plan except as, and to the extent, expressly provided in the Plan
and the applicable Election Form. Any reserve or other asset that the Company may establish or acquire to assure itself of the funds to provide payments required
under the Plan shall not serve in any way as security to any Participant or beneficiary for the Company’s performance under the Plan.

SECTION 13. Section 409A of the Code. With respect to deferrals that are subject to Section 409A of the Code, the Plan is intended to comply with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code, and the provisions of the Plan and any Election Form shall be interpreted in a manner that satisfies the requirements of
Section 409A of the Code, and the Plan shall be operated accordingly. If any provision of the Plan or any term or condition of any Election Form would otherwise
frustrate or conflict with this intent, the provision, term or condition will be interpreted and deemed amended so as to avoid this conflict.

SECTION 14. Governing Law. The Plan and the Election Forms are deemed adopted, made and delivered in New York and shall be governed by the laws
of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within such state.
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Exhibit 10.43

RiskMetrics Group, Inc.
2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

ARTICLE I
General

 
1.1 Purpose

The RiskMetrics Group, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) is designed to provide certain key persons, on whose initiative and
efforts the successful conduct of the business of RiskMetrics Group, Inc. (the “Company”) depends, and who are responsible for the management, growth and
protection of the business of the Company, with incentives to: (a) enter into and remain in the service of the Company, a Company subsidiary or a Company joint
venture, (b) acquire a proprietary interest in the success of the Company, (c) maximize their performance and (d) enhance the long-term performance of the
Company (whether directly or indirectly through enhancing the long-term performance of a Company subsidiary or a Company joint venture).
 
1.2 Administration

(a) Administration by Committee; Constitution of Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) or such other committee or subcommittee as the Board may designate or as shall be formed by the abstention or recusal of a non-
Qualified Member (as defined below) of such committee (the “Committee”). The members of the Committee shall be appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of,
the Board. While it is intended that at all times that the Committee acts in connection with the Plan, the Committee shall consist solely of Qualified Members, the
number of whom shall not be less than two, the fact that the Committee is not so comprised will not invalidate any grant hereunder that otherwise satisfies the
terms of the Plan. A “Qualified Member” is both a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 (“Rule 16b-3”) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”) and an “outside director” within the meaning of section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”). If the Committee does not exist, or for any other reason determined by the Board, the Board may take any action under the Plan that would otherwise be
the responsibility of the Committee.

(b) Committee’s Authority. The Committee shall have the authority to (i) exercise all of the powers granted to it under the Plan, (ii) construe, interpret and
implement the Plan and any award certificates issued under the Plan, (iii) prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules
governing its own operations, (iv) make all determinations necessary or advisable in administering the Plan, (v) correct any defect, supply any omission and
reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan, and (vi) amend the Plan to reflect changes in applicable law.

(c) Committee Action; Delegation. Actions of the Committee shall be taken by the vote of a majority of its members. Except as otherwise required by
applicable law, any action may be taken by a written instrument signed by a majority of the Committee members, and action so taken shall be fully as effective as
if it had been taken by a vote at a meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of the Plan, the Committee (or the Board acting instead of the
Committee), may delegate to one or more officers of the Company the authority to designate the individuals (other than such officer(s)), among those eligible to
receive awards pursuant to the terms of the Plan, who will receive rights or options under the Plan and the size of each such grant, to the fullest extent permitted
by Section 157 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (or any successor provision thereto), provided that the Committee shall itself grant awards to those
individuals who could reasonably be considered to
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be subject to the insider trading provisions of section 16 of the 1934 Act or whose awards could reasonably be expected to be subject to the deduction limitations
of section 162(m) of the Code.

(d) Determinations Final. The determination of the Committee on all matters relating to the Plan or any award under the Plan shall be final, binding and
conclusive.

(e) Limit on Committee Members’ Liability. No member of the Committee shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to
the Plan or any award thereunder.
 
1.3 Persons Eligible for Awards

The persons eligible to receive awards under the Plan are those officers, directors (whether or not they are employed by the Company), and executive,
managerial, professional or administrative employees of, and consultants to, the Company, its subsidiaries and its joint ventures (collectively, “key persons”) as
the Committee in its sole discretion shall select.
 
1.4 Types of Awards Under Plan

Awards may be made under the Plan in the form of (a) incentive stock options, (b) non-qualified stock options, (c) stock appreciation rights, (d) restricted
stock, (e) restricted stock units, (f) unrestricted stock, and (g) performance shares, all as more fully set forth in Article II. The term “award” means any of the
foregoing. No incentive stock option may be granted to a person who is not an employee of the Company or one of its subsidiary corporations on the date of
grant.
 
1.5 Shares Available for Awards; Adjustments to Awards

(a) Aggregate Number Available; Certificate Legends. Subject to adjustment as provided under subparagraph (d)(i) below, the total number of shares of
common stock of the Company (“Common Stock”) with respect to which awards may be granted pursuant to the Plan shall not exceed the sum of 10,000,000
shares. Shares issued pursuant to the Plan may be authorized but unissued Common Stock, authorized and issued Common Stock held in the Company’s treasury
or Common Stock acquired by the Company for the purposes of the Plan. The Committee may direct that any stock certificate evidencing shares issued pursuant
to the Plan shall bear a legend setting forth such restrictions on transferability as may apply to such shares.

(b) Individual Limits. Except as provided in this paragraph (b), no provision of this Plan shall be deemed to limit the number or value of shares otherwise
available for awards under the Plan with respect to which the Committee may make awards to any one eligible person. Subject to adjustment as provided in
subparagraph (d)(i) below, the total number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which awards may be granted to any one employee of the Company or a
subsidiary during any one calendar year shall not exceed 1,875,000 shares. Stock options and stock appreciation rights granted and subsequently canceled or
deemed to be canceled in a calendar year shall count against this limit even after their cancellation.

(c) Certain Shares to Become Available Again. The following shares of Common Stock shall again become available for awards under the Plan: (i) any
shares that are subject to an award under the Plan and that remain unissued upon the cancellation or termination of such award for any reason whatsoever, and
(ii) any shares of restricted stock forfeited pursuant to the terms of the Plan or the award, provided that any dividends paid on such shares are also forfeited.

(d) Adjustments to Available Shares and Existing Awards Upon Changes in Common Stock or Certain Other Events. Upon certain changes in Common
Stock or other corporate events, the number
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of shares of Common Stock available for issuance with respect to awards that may be granted under the Plan, and that are the subject of existing awards, shall be
adjusted or shall be adjustable, as follows:

(i) Shares Available for Grants. In the event of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding by reason of any stock dividend or
split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combination or exchange of shares or similar corporate change, the maximum number of
shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Committee may grant awards under paragraph (a) above, and the individual annual limit described in
paragraph (b) above, shall be appropriately adjusted by the Committee. In the event of any change in the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding
by reason of any other event or transaction, the Committee may, but need not, make such adjustments in the maximum number and class of shares of
Common Stock with respect to which the Committee may grant awards under paragraph (a) above and the annual individual limit described in paragraph
(b) above, in each case as the Committee may deem appropriate.

(ii) Outstanding Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units and Performance Shares. Unless the Committee in its absolute discretion otherwise
determines, any securities or other property (including dividends paid in cash) received by a grantee with respect to a share of restricted stock, which has
not yet vested, as a result of any dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combination, exchange of shares or
otherwise, will not vest until such share of restricted stock vests, and shall be promptly deposited with the Company.

The Committee shall appropriately adjust outstanding grants of restricted stock units or performance shares payable in shares of Common Stock to
reflect any dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combination, exchange of shares or similar corporate change in
order to prevent the enlargement or dilution of rights of grantees.

(iii) Outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights—Increase or Decrease in Issued Shares Without Consideration. Subject to any required
action by the stockholders of the Company, in the event of any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting from a
subdivision or consolidation of shares of Common Stock or the payment of a stock dividend (but only on the shares of Common Stock), or any other
increase or decrease in the number of such shares effected without receipt of consideration by the Company, the Committee shall proportionally adjust the
number of shares of Common Stock subject to each outstanding option and stock appreciation right and the exercise price-per-share of Common Stock of
each such option and stock appreciation right to the extent necessary to prevent the enlargement or dilution of rights with respect to such options and stock
appreciation rights.

(iv) Outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights—Certain Mergers. Subject to any required action by the stockholders of the Company, in
the event that the Company shall be the surviving corporation in any merger or consolidation (except a merger or consolidation as a result of which the
holders of shares of Common Stock receive securities of another corporation), each option and stock appreciation right outstanding on the date of such
merger or consolidation shall pertain to and apply to the securities which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock subject to such option or stock
appreciation right would have received in such merger or consolidation.

(v) Outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights—Certain Other Transactions. In the event of (1) a dissolution or liquidation of the Company,
(2) a sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, (3) a merger or consolidation involving the Company in which the Company is not the
surviving corporation or (4) a merger or consolidation involving the Company in which the Company is the surviving corporation but the holders of shares
of Common Stock receive
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securities of another corporation and/or other property, including cash, the Committee shall, in its absolute discretion, either:

(A) cancel, effective immediately prior to the occurrence of such event, each option and stock appreciation right outstanding immediately prior
to such event (whether or not then exercisable), and, in full consideration of such cancellation, pay to the grantee to whom such option or stock
appreciation right was granted an amount in cash, for each share of Common Stock subject to such option or stock appreciation right, respectively,
equal to the excess of (x) the value, as determined by the Committee in its absolute discretion, of the property (including cash) received by the holder
of a share of Common Stock as a result of such event over (y) the exercise price of such option or stock appreciation right; or

(B) provide for the exchange of each option and stock appreciation right outstanding immediately prior to such event (whether or not then
exercisable) for an option on or stock appreciation right with respect to, as appropriate, some or all of the property which a holder of the number of
shares of Common Stock subject to such option or stock appreciation right would have received and, incident thereto, make an equitable adjustment
as determined by the Committee in its absolute discretion in the exercise price of the option or stock appreciation right, or the number of shares or
amount of property subject to the option or stock appreciation right or, if appropriate, provide for a cash payment to the grantee to whom such option
or stock appreciation right was granted in partial consideration for the exchange of the option or stock appreciation right.

(vi) Outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights—Other Changes. In the event of any change in the capitalization of the Company or a
corporate change other than those specifically referred to in subparagraphs (iii), (iv) or (v) above, the Committee may, in its absolute discretion, make such
adjustments in the number and class of shares subject to options and stock appreciation rights outstanding on the date on which such change occurs and in
the per-share exercise price of each such option and stock appreciation right as the Committee may consider appropriate to prevent dilution or enlargement
of rights. In addition, if and to the extent the Committee determines it is appropriate, the Committee may elect to cancel each option and stock appreciation
right outstanding immediately prior to such event (whether or not then exercisable), and, in full consideration of such cancellation, pay to the grantee to
whom such option or stock appreciation right was granted an amount in cash, for each share of Common Stock subject to such option or stock appreciation
right, respectively, equal to the excess of (x) the Fair Market Value of Common Stock on the date of such cancellation over (y) the exercise price of such
option or stock appreciation right.

(vii) No Other Rights. Except as expressly provided in the Plan, no grantee shall have any rights by reason of any subdivision or consolidation of
shares of stock of any class, the payment of any dividend, any increase or decrease in the number of shares of stock of any class or any dissolution,
liquidation, merger or consolidation of the Company or any other corporation. Except as expressly provided in the Plan, no issuance by the Company of
shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with
respect to, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to an award or the exercise price of any option or stock appreciation right.

 
1.6 Definitions of Certain Terms

(a) The “Fair Market Value” of a share of Common Stock on any day shall be the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange, American Stock
Exchange or Nasdaq (whichever is applicable) as reported for such day in The Wall Street Journal or, if no such price is reported for such day, the average of the
high bid and low asked price of Common Stock as reported for such day. If no quotation is made for the applicable day, the Fair Market Value of a share of
Common Stock on such
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day shall be determined in the manner set forth in the preceding sentence using quotations for the next preceding day for which there were quotations, provided
that such quotations shall have been made within the ten (10) business days preceding the applicable day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if shares of Common
Stock are not listed on the New York Stock Exchange, American Stock Exchange or Nasdaq, or if otherwise deemed necessary or appropriate by the Committee,
the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on any day shall be determined by the Committee. In no event shall the Fair Market Value of any share of
Common Stock be less than its par value.

(b) The term “incentive stock option” means an option that is intended to qualify for special federal income tax treatment pursuant to sections 421 and 422
of the Code as now constituted or subsequently amended, or pursuant to a successor provision of the Code, and which is so designated in the applicable award
certificate. Any option that is not specifically designated as an incentive stock option shall under no circumstances be considered an incentive stock option. Any
option that is not an incentive stock option is referred to herein as a “non-qualified stock option.”

(c) A grantee shall be deemed to have a “termination of employment” upon (i) the date the grantee ceases to be employed by, or to provide consulting
services for, the Company, any Company subsidiary or Company joint venture, or any corporation (or any of its subsidiaries) which assumes the grantee’s award
in a transaction to which section 424(a) of the Code applies; or (ii) the date the grantee ceases to be a Board member, provided, however, that in the case of a
grantee (x) who is, at the time of reference, both an employee or consultant and a Board member, or (y) who ceases to be engaged as an employee, consultant or
Board member and immediately is engaged in another of such relationships with the Company, any Company subsidiary or Company joint venture, the grantee
shall be deemed to have a “termination of employment” upon the later of the dates determined pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above. For purposes of clause
(i) above, a grantee who continues his or her employment or consulting relationship with: (A) a Company subsidiary subsequent to its sale by the Company, or
(B) a Company joint venture subsequent to the Company’s sale of its interests in such joint venture, shall have a termination of employment upon the date of such
sale. The Committee may in its discretion determine whether any leave of absence constitutes a termination of employment for purposes of the Plan and the
impact, if any, of any such leave of absence on awards theretofore made under the Plan.

(d) In relation to the Company, the terms “parent corporation” and “subsidiary corporation” shall be defined in accordance with sections 424(e) and (f) of
the Code, respectively.

(e) The term “employment” shall be deemed to mean an employee’s employment with, or a consultant’s provision of services to, the Company, any
Company subsidiary or any Company joint venture and each Board member’s service as a Board member.

(f) In connection with a termination of employment by reason of a dismissal for “cause”:

(i) The term “cause” shall mean:

(A) to the extent that there is an employment, severance or other agreement governing the relationship between the grantee and the Company, a
Company subsidiary or a Company joint venture, which agreement contains a definition of “cause,” cause shall consist of those acts or omissions
that would constitute “cause” under such agreement; and

(B) to the extent that there is no such agreement as provided or in subsection (f)(i)(A) above, the grantee’s termination of employment by the
Company or an affiliate on account of any one or more of the following:

 

 
(1) grantee’s willful and intentional repeated failure or refusal, continuing after notice that specifically identifies the breach(es)

complained of, to perform substantially his or her material duties, responsibilities and obligations (other than a failure resulting
from grantee’s incapacity due to physical or mental
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illness or other reasons beyond the control of grantee), and which failure or refusal results in demonstrable direct and material
injury to the Company;

 

 
(2) any willful and intentional act or failure to act involving fraud, misrepresentation, theft, embezzlement, dishonesty or moral

turpitude (collectively, “Fraud”) which results in demonstrable direct and material injury to the Company; and
 

 
(3) any unauthorized use or disclosure by the grantee of confidential information or trade secrets of the Company (or any affiliated

entity);
 

 
(4) any intentional wrongdoing by such person whether by omission or commission, which materially adversely affects the business

or affairs of the Company (or any affiliated entity); and
 

 
(5) conviction of (or a plea of nolo contendere to) an offense which is a felony in the jurisdiction involved or which is a

misdemeanor in the jurisdiction involved but which involves Fraud.

(ii) For purposes of determining whether cause exists:

(A) to the extent that there is an employment, severance or other agreement governing the relationship between the grantee and the Company, a
Company subsidiary or a Company joint venture, which agreement contains a definition of “cause” and provides a procedure for the determination
of whether cause exists, the determination of whether a grantee’s employment is (or is deemed to have been) terminated for cause for purposes of the
Plan or any award hereunder shall be made in accordance with such agreement; and

(B) to the extent that there is no such agreement as provided for in subsection (f)(ii)(A) above:
 

 
(1) the determination of whether a grantee’s employment is (or is deemed to have been) terminated for cause for purposes of the

Plan or any award hereunder shall be made by the Committee in its discretion;
 

 
(2) any rights the Company may have hereunder in respect of the events giving rise to cause shall be in addition to the rights the

Company may have under any other agreement with a grantee or at law or in equity;
 

 
(3) if, subsequent to a grantee’s voluntary termination of employment or involuntary termination of employment without cause, it is

discovered that the grantee’s employment could have been terminated for cause, the Committee may deem such grantee’s
employment to have been terminated for cause; and

 

 
(4) a grantee’s termination of employment for cause shall be effective as of the date of the occurrence of the event giving rise to

cause, regardless of when the determination of cause is made.

ARTICLE II
Awards Under the Plan

 
2.1 Certificates Evidencing Awards

Each award granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by a written certificate (“award certificate”) which shall contain such provisions as the Committee
may in its sole discretion deem necessary or desirable. By accepting an award pursuant to the Plan, a grantee thereby agrees that the award shall be subject to all
of the terms and provisions of the Plan and the applicable award certificate.
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2.2 Terms of Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Right Awards

(a) Stock Option Grants. The Committee may grant incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options (collectively, “options”) to purchase shares of
Common Stock from the Company, to such key persons, and in such amounts and subject to such vesting and forfeiture provisions and other terms and
conditions, as the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion, subject to the provisions of the Plan.

(b) Stock Appreciation Right Grants; Types of Stock Appreciation Rights. The Committee may grant stock appreciation rights to such key persons, and in
such amounts and subject to such vesting and forfeiture provisions and other terms and conditions, as the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion, subject
to the provisions of the Plan. The terms of a stock appreciation right may provide that it shall be automatically exercised for a cash payment upon the happening
of a specified event that is outside the control of the grantee and that it shall not be otherwise exercisable. Stock appreciation rights may be granted in connection
with all or any part of, or independently of, any option granted under the Plan. A stock appreciation right granted in connection with a non-qualified stock option
may be granted at or after the time of grant of such option. A stock appreciation right granted in connection with an incentive stock option may be granted only at
the time of grant of such option.

(c) Nature of Stock Appreciation Rights. The grantee of a stock appreciation right shall have the right, subject to the terms of the Plan and the applicable
award certificate, to receive from the Company an amount equal to (i) the excess of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of exercise of
the stock appreciation right over the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of grant (or over the option exercise price if the stock
appreciation right is granted in connection with an option), multiplied by (ii) the number of shares with respect to which the stock appreciation right is exercised.
Payment upon exercise of a stock appreciation right shall be in cash or in shares of Common Stock (valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of exercise of
the stock appreciation right) or both, all as the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion. Upon the exercise of a stock appreciation right granted in
connection with an option, the number of shares subject to the option shall be reduced by the number of shares with respect to which the stock appreciation right
is exercised. Upon the exercise of an option in connection with which a stock appreciation right has been granted, the number of shares subject to the stock
appreciation right shall be reduced by the number of shares with respect to which the option is exercised.

(d) Option Exercise Price. Each award certificate with respect to an option shall set forth the amount (the “option exercise price”) payable by the grantee to
the Company upon exercise of the option evidenced thereby. The option exercise price per share shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion;
provided, however, that the option exercise price shall be at least 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date the option is granted,
and provided further that in no event shall the option exercise price be less than the par value of a share of Common Stock.

(e) Exercise Period. Each award certificate with respect to an option or stock appreciation right shall set forth the periods during which the award
evidenced thereby shall be exercisable, whether in whole or in part. Such periods shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, subject to the
following:

(i) Ten-Year Limit. No stock option (or a stock appreciation right granted in connection with an incentive stock option) shall be exercisable more than
10 years after the date of grant.

(ii) Beginning of Exercise Period.

(A) General. Unless the applicable award certificate otherwise provides, an option or stock appreciation right shall become exercisable with
respect to a number of whole shares as close as possible to 25% of the shares subject to such option or stock appreciation right on each of the first
four anniversaries of the date of grant.
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(B) Early Exercise. The Committee may provide that all or part of a stock option be exercisable for shares of Common Stock subject to
restrictions comparable to those set forth in Section 2.6(d) hereof and subject to a repurchase option in favor of the Company. Such restrictions and
repurchase option shall lapse at such times as the Committee shall specify in the award certificate.

(iii) End of Exercise Period. Unless the applicable award certificate otherwise provides, once an installment becomes exercisable, it shall remain
exercisable until the earlier of (A) the tenth anniversary of the date of grant of the award or (B) the expiration, cancellation or termination of the award.

(iv) Timing and Extent of Exercise. Unless the applicable award certificate otherwise provides, (A) an option or stock appreciation right may be
exercised from time to time as to all or part of the shares as to which such award is then exercisable and (B) a stock appreciation right granted in connection
with an option may be exercised at any time when, and to the same extent that, the related option may be exercised.

(v) Termination of Employment—Generally. Except as otherwise provided below, a grantee who incurs a termination of employment may exercise
any outstanding option or stock appreciation right on the following terms and conditions: (A) exercise may be made only to the extent that the grantee was
entitled to exercise the award on the termination of employment date; and (B) exercise must occur within three months after termination of employment but
in no event after the original expiration date of the award.

(vi) Dismissal for Cause. If a grantee incurs a termination of employment as the result of a dismissal for cause, all options and stock appreciation
rights not theretofore exercised shall terminate upon the commencement of business on the date of the grantee’s termination of employment.

(vii) Disability. If a grantee incurs a termination of employment by reason of a disability (as defined below), then any outstanding option or stock
appreciation right shall be exercisable on the following terms and conditions: (A) exercise may be made only to the extent that the grantee was entitled to
exercise the award on the termination of employment date; and (B) exercise must occur by the earlier of (I) the first anniversary of the grantee’s termination
of employment, or (II) the original expiration date of the award. For this purpose “disability” shall mean any physical or mental condition that would
qualify a grantee for a disability benefit under the long-term disability plan maintained by the Company or, if there is no such plan, the inability of a
grantee to perform all or a substantial part of his or her material duties, as a result of mental or physical defect or illness for a period of 90 consecutive days
or 120 non-consecutive days during any 12 month period. The existence of a disability shall be determined by the Committee in its absolute discretion.

(viii) Death.

(A) Termination of Employment as a Result of Grantee’s Death. If a grantee incurs a termination of employment as the result of death, then any
outstanding option or stock appreciation right shall be exercisable on the following terms and conditions: (I) exercise may be made only to the extent
that the grantee was entitled to exercise the award on the date of death; and (II) exercise must occur by the earlier of (1) the first anniversary of the
grantee’s termination of employment, or (2) the original expiration date of the award.

(B) Death Subsequent to a Termination of Employment. If a grantee dies subsequent to incurring a termination of employment but prior to the
expiration of the exercise period with respect to a stock option or a stock appreciation right, then the award shall remain exercisable
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until the earlier to occur of (I) the first anniversary of the grantee’s date of death or (II) the original expiration date of the award.

(C) Restrictions on Exercise Following Death. Any such exercise of an award following a grantee’s death shall be made only by the grantee’s
executor or administrator or other duly appointed representative reasonably acceptable to the Committee, unless the grantee’s will specifically
disposes of such award, in which case such exercise shall be made only by the recipient of such specific disposition. If a grantee’s personal
representative or the recipient of a specific disposition under the grantee’s will shall be entitled to exercise any award pursuant to the preceding
sentence, such representative or recipient shall be bound by all the terms and conditions of the Plan and the applicable award certificate which would
have applied to the grantee.

(ix) Special Rules for Incentive Stock Options. No option that remains exercisable for more than three months following a grantee’s termination of
employment for any reason other than death (including death within three months after the termination of employment or within one year after a
termination due to disability) or disability, or for more than one year following a grantee’s termination of employment as the result of disability, may be
treated as an incentive stock option.

(x) Detrimental Activity. In the event that the Committee determines that a grantee has engaged in any Detrimental Activity (as defined in
Section 3.3) after his or her termination of employment, any outstanding stock options shall terminate as of the date such Detrimental Activity occurred.

(xi) Committee Discretion. The Committee, in the applicable award certificate, may waive or modify the application of one or more of the provisions
of subparagraphs (v) through (viii) of this Section 2.2(e).

(f) Incentive Stock Options: $100,000 Limitation. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the time the option is granted) of the
stock with respect to which incentive stock options are first exercisable by any employee during any calendar year shall exceed $100,000, or such higher amount
as may be permitted from time to time under section 422 of the Code, such options shall be treated as non-qualified stock options.

(g) Incentive Stock Options: 10% Owners. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.2, an incentive stock option may not be granted
under the Plan to an individual who, at the time the option is granted, owns stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of
stock of his or her employer or of its parent or subsidiary (as such ownership may be determined for purposes of section 422(b)(6) of the Code) unless (i) at the
time such incentive stock option is granted the option exercise price is at least 110% of the Fair Market Value of the shares subject thereto and (ii) the incentive
stock option by its terms is not exercisable after the expiration of 5 years from the date it is granted.
 
2.3 Exercise of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Subject to the other provisions of this Article II, each option or stock appreciation right granted under the Plan shall be exercisable as follows:

(a) Notice of Exercise. An option or stock appreciation right shall be exercised by the filing of a written notice with the Company or the Company’s
designated exchange agent (the “exchange agent”), on such form and in such manner as the Committee shall in its sole discretion prescribe.

(b) Payment of Exercise Price. Any written notice of exercise of an option shall be accompanied by payment for the shares being purchased. Such payment
shall be made: (i) by certified or official bank check (or the equivalent thereof acceptable to the Company or its exchange agent) for the full
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option exercise price; or (ii) with the consent of the Committee, by delivery of shares of Common Stock owned by the grantee (whether acquired by option
exercise or otherwise, provided that if such shares were acquired pursuant to the exercise of a stock option, they were acquired at least six months prior to the
option exercise date or such other period as the Committee may from time to time determine) having a Fair Market Value (determined as of the exercise date)
equal to all or part of the option exercise price and a certified or official bank check (or the equivalent thereof acceptable to the Company or its exchange agent)
for any remaining portion of the full option exercise price; (iii) by means of a brokered cashless exercise; or (iv) at the discretion of the Committee and to the
extent permitted by law, by such other provision, consistent with the terms of the Plan, as the Committee may from time to time prescribe.

(c) Delivery of Certificates Upon Exercise. Promptly after receiving payment of the full option exercise price, or after receiving notice of the exercise of a
stock appreciation right, the Company or its exchange agent shall deliver to the grantee or to such other person as may then have the right to exercise the award,
certificate or certificates for the shares of Common Stock for which the award has been exercised. If the method of payment employed upon option exercise so
requires, and if applicable law permits, a grantee may direct the Company, or its exchange agent, as the case may be, to deliver the stock certificate(s) to the
grantee’s stockbroker.

(d) No Stockholder Rights. No grantee of an option or stock appreciation right (or other person having the right to exercise such award) shall have any of
the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to shares subject to such award until the issuance of a stock certificate to such person for such shares.
Except as otherwise provided in Section 1.5(d), no adjustment shall be made for dividends, distributions or other rights (whether ordinary or extraordinary, and
whether in cash, securities or other property) for which the record date is prior to the date such stock certificate is issued.
 
2.4 Compensation in Lieu of Exercise of an Option

Upon written application of the grantee of an option, the Committee in its sole discretion may determine to substitute, for the exercise of such option,
compensation to the grantee not in excess of the difference between the option exercise price and the Fair Market Value of the shares covered by such written
application on the date of such application. Such compensation shall be in shares of Common Stock, and the payment thereof may be subject to conditions, all as
the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion. In the event compensation is substituted pursuant to this Section 2.4 for the exercise, in whole or in part, of
an option, the number of shares subject to the option shall be reduced by the number of shares for which such compensation is substituted.
 
2.5 Transferability of Options and Stock Appreciation Rights

Except as otherwise provided in an applicable award certificate evidencing an option or stock appreciation right, during the lifetime of a grantee, each
option or stock appreciation right granted to a grantee shall be exercisable only by the grantee and no option or stock appreciation right shall be assignable or
transferable otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Any attempt to transfer any option or stock appreciation right other than as
permitted herein shall be void and immediately cancelled, and no such option or stock appreciation right shall in any manner be liable for or subject to the debts,
contracts, liabilities or torts of any person who shall be entitled to such option or stock appreciation right, nor shall any option or stock appreciation right be
subject to attachment or legal process for or against such person. The Committee may, in any applicable award certificate evidencing an option (other than an
incentive stock option to the extent inconsistent with the requirements of section 422 of the Code applicable to incentive stock options), permit a grantee to
transfer all or some of the options to (A) the grantee’s spouse, children or grandchildren (“immediate family members”), (B) a trust or trusts for the exclusive
benefit of such immediate family members, or (C) other parties approved by the Committee in its absolute discretion. Following any such transfer,
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any transferred options shall continue to be subject to the same terms and conditions as were applicable immediately prior to the transfer, and the transferee shall
be subject to all obligations hereunder as if such person were the grantee.
 
2.6 Grant of Restricted Stock

(a) Restricted Stock Grants. The Committee may grant restricted shares of Common Stock to such key persons, in such amounts, and subject to such
vesting and forfeiture provisions and other terms and conditions as the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion, subject to the provisions of the Plan.
Restricted stock awards may be made independently of or in connection with any other award under the Plan. A grantee of a restricted stock award shall have no
rights with respect to such award unless such grantee accepts the award within such period as the Committee shall specify by accepting delivery of an award
certificate in such form as the Committee shall determine and, in the event the restricted shares are newly issued by the Company, makes payment to the
Company or its exchange agent in an amount at least equal to the par value of the shares as required by the Committee and in accordance with the Delaware
General Corporation Law.

(b) Issuance of Stock Certificate(s). Promptly after a grantee accepts a restricted stock award, the Company or its exchange agent shall issue to the grantee a
stock certificate or stock certificates for the shares of Common Stock covered by the award or shall establish an account evidencing ownership of the stock in
uncertificated form. Upon the issuance of such stock certificate(s) or establishment of such account, the grantee shall have the rights of a stockholder with respect
to the restricted stock, subject to: (i) the nontransferability restrictions and forfeiture provision described in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this Section 2.6; (ii) in the
Committee’s discretion, a requirement that any dividends paid on such shares shall be held in escrow until all restrictions on such shares have lapsed; and (iii) any
other restrictions and conditions contained in the applicable award certificate.

(c) Custody of Stock Certificate(s). Unless the Committee shall otherwise determine, any stock certificates issued evidencing shares of restricted stock shall
remain in the possession of the Company until such shares are free of any restrictions specified in the applicable award certificate. The Committee may direct that
such stock certificate(s) bear a legend setting forth the applicable restrictions on transferability.

(d) Nontransferability. Shares of restricted stock may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of except as
otherwise specifically provided in this Plan or the applicable award certificate. The Committee at the time of grant shall specify the date or dates (which may
depend upon or be related to a period of continued employment with the Company, the attainment of performance goals or other conditions or a combination of
such conditions) on which the nontransferability of the restricted stock shall lapse.

(e) Forfeiture Upon Termination of Employment. Except as may otherwise be provided by the Committee at any time prior to a grantee’s termination of
employment, a grantee’s termination of employment for any reason (including death) shall cause the immediate forfeiture of all shares of restricted stock that
have not yet vested as of the date of such termination of employment. Unless the Board or the Committee determines otherwise, all dividends paid on such shares
also shall be forfeited, whether by termination of any escrow arrangement under which such dividends are held, by the grantee’s repayment of dividends received
directly, or otherwise.
 
2.7 Grant of Restricted Stock Units

(a) Restricted Stock Unit Grants. The Committee may grant awards of restricted stock units to such key persons, in such amounts, and subject to such terms
and conditions as the Committee shall determine in its discretion, subject to the provisions of the Plan. Restricted stock units may be awarded independently of or
in connection with any other award under the Plan. A grantee of a restricted stock
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unit award shall have no rights with respect to such award unless such grantee accepts the award within such period as the Committee shall specify by accepting
delivery of an award certificate in such form as the Committee shall determine. A grant of a restricted stock unit entitles the grantee to receive a share of Common
Stock on the date that such restricted stock unit vests.

(b) Vesting. Restricted stock units may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of except as otherwise specifically
provided in this Plan or the applicable award certificate. The Committee at the time of grant shall specify the date or dates (which may depend upon or be related
to a period of continued employment with the Company, the attainment of performance goals or other conditions or a combination of such conditions) on which
the restricted stock units shall vest.

(c) Consequence of Termination of Employment. Except as may otherwise be provided by the Committee at any time prior to a grantee’s termination of
employment, a grantee’s termination of employment for any reason (including death) shall cause the immediate forfeiture of all restricted stock units that have not
yet vested as of the date of such termination of employment.
 
2.8 Grant of Unrestricted Stock

The Committee may grant (or sell at a purchase price at least equal to par value) shares of Common Stock free of restrictions under the Plan, to such key
persons and in such amounts and subject to such forfeiture provisions as the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion. Shares may be thus granted or sold
in respect of past services or other valid consideration.
 
2.9 Grant of Performance Shares

(a) Performance Share Grants. The Committee may grant performance share awards to such key persons, and in such amounts and subject to such vesting
and forfeiture provisions and other terms and conditions, as the Committee shall in its sole discretion determine, subject to the provisions of the Plan. Such an
award shall entitle the grantee to acquire shares of Common Stock, or to be paid the value thereof in cash, as the Committee shall determine, if specified
performance goals are met. Performance shares may be awarded independently of, or in connection with, any other award under the Plan. A grantee shall have no
rights with respect to a performance share award unless such grantee accepts the award by accepting delivery of an award certificate at such time and in such form
as the Committee shall determine.

(b) Stockholder Rights. The grantee of a performance share award will have the rights of a stockholder only as to shares for which a stock certificate has
been issued pursuant to the award or for which an account has been established evidencing ownership of the stock in uncertificated form and not with respect to
any other shares subject to the award.

(c) Consequence of Termination of Employment. Except as may otherwise be provided by the Committee at any time prior to a grantee’s termination of
employment, the rights of a grantee of a performance share award shall automatically terminate upon the grantee’s termination of employment by the Company
and its subsidiaries for any reason (including death).

(d) Payment of Award. The grantee of a performance share award shall receive the shares of Common Stock or cash payment subject to such award as soon
as practicable following the satisfaction of the applicable performance goals, but in no event later than 2 /2 months after the year in which the performance goals
are satisfied.

(e) Tandem Grants; Effect on Exercise. Except as otherwise specified by the Committee, (i) a performance share award granted in tandem with an option
may be exercised only while the option is exercisable, (ii) the exercise of a performance share award granted in tandem with any other award shall reduce the
number of shares subject to such other award in the manner specified in the applicable
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award certificate, and (iii) the exercise of any award granted in tandem with a performance share award shall reduce the number of shares subject to the
performance share award in the manner specified in the applicable award certificate.

(f) Nontransferability. Performance shares may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of except as otherwise
specifically provided in this Plan or the applicable award certificate.
 
2.10 Right of Recapture

If at any time after the date on which a grantee has been granted or become vested in an award pursuant to the achievement of performance goals, the
Committee determines that the earlier determination as to the achievement of the performance goals was based on incorrect data and that in fact the performance
goals had not been achieved or had been achieved to a lesser extent than originally determined, then (i) any award or portion of an award granted based on such
incorrect determination shall be forfeited, (ii) any award or portion of an award that became vested based on such incorrect determination shall be deemed to be
not vested, and (iii) any amounts paid to the grantee based on such incorrect determination shall be paid by the grantee to the Company upon notice from the
Company.

ARTICLE III
Miscellaneous

 
3.1 Amendment of the Plan; Modification of Awards

(a) Amendment of the Plan. The Board may from time to time suspend, discontinue, revise or amend the Plan in any respect whatsoever, except that no
such amendment shall materially impair any rights or materially increase any obligations under any award theretofore made under the Plan without the consent of
the grantee (or, upon the grantee’s death, the person having the right to exercise the award). For purposes of this Section 3.1, any action of the Board or the
Committee that in any way alters or affects the tax treatment of any award or that in the sole discretion of the Board is necessary to prevent an award from being
subject to tax under Section 409A of the Code shall not be considered to materially impair any rights of any grantee. The Board shall determine, in its sole
discretion, whether to submit any amendment of the Plan to stockholders for approval; in making such determination it is expected that the Board will take into
account the requirements of any exchange on which the Common Stock of the Company is listed, the prerequisites for favorable tax treatment to the Company
and grantees of awards made under the Plan, and such other considerations as the Board deems relevant.

(b) Modification of Awards. The Committee may cancel any award under the Plan. The Committee also may amend any outstanding award certificate,
including, without limitation, by amendment which would: (i) accelerate the time or times at which the award becomes unrestricted or vested or may be
exercised; (ii) waive or amend any goals, restrictions or conditions set forth in the award certificate; or (iii) waive or amend any applicable provision of the Plan
or award certificate with respect to the termination of the award upon termination of employment, provided however, that no such amendment may lower the
exercise price of an outstanding option or stock appreciation right. However, any such cancellation or amendment (other than an amendment pursuant to
Section 1.5(d)) that materially impairs the rights or materially increases the obligations of a grantee under an outstanding award shall be made only with the
consent of the grantee (or, upon the grantee’s death, the person having the right to exercise the award).
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3.2 Consent Requirement

(a) No Plan Action without Required Consent. If the Committee shall at any time determine that any Consent (as hereinafter defined) is necessary or
desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the granting of any award under the Plan, the issuance or purchase of shares or exercise of other rights
thereunder, or the taking of any other action thereunder (each such action being hereinafter referred to as a “Plan action”), then such Plan action shall not be taken
or permitted, in whole or in part, unless and until such Consent shall have been effected or obtained to the full satisfaction of the Committee.

(b) Consent Defined. The term “Consent” as used herein with respect to any Plan action means (i) any and all listings, registrations or qualifications in
respect thereof upon any securities exchange or under any federal, state or local law, rule or regulation, (ii) any and all written agreements and representations by
the grantee with respect to the disposition of shares, or with respect to any other matter, which the Committee shall deem necessary or desirable to comply with
the terms of any such listing, registration or qualification or to obtain an exemption from the requirement that any such listing, qualification or registration be
made and (iii) any and all consents, clearances and approvals in respect of a Plan action by any governmental or other regulatory bodies.

(c) Representations, Legend. The Committee may require as a condition to the receipt of shares of Common Stock pursuant to an award under this Plan that
the grantee or any other person receiving shares pursuant to the award represent that such person is not acquiring the shares with a view to distribution thereof and
to make such other securities law related representations as the Committee shall request. In addition to any legend required by this Plan, any certificate
representing Common Stock acquired in respect of an award may bear such legends as the Company deems advisable to assure compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations.
 
3.3 Detrimental Activity

The Committee may require that a grantee certify at the time an award vests or is exercised that he or she has not engaged in, and does not intend to engage
in, any Detrimental Activity. In the event that a grantee engages in Detrimental Activity during the one-year period commencing on the date an award vests or is
exercised, the Company shall be entitled to recover from such grantee at any time, and such grantee shall pay over to the Company, an amount equal to any gain
realized as a result of the vesting or exercise (whether at the time of exercise or thereafter). For the purposes hereof, “Detrimental Activity” shall mean (a) the
disclosure to anyone outside the Company or its affiliates, or the use in any manner other than in the furtherance of the Company’s or its affiliate’s business,
without written authorization from the Company, of any confidential information or proprietary information relating to the business of the Company or its
affiliates that is acquired by a grantee prior to the grantee’s termination of employment; (b) activity while employed or performing services that results, or if
known could result, in the grantee’s termination that is classified by the Company as a termination for cause; (c) any attempt, directly or indirectly, to solicit,
induce or hire (or the identification for solicitation, inducement or hire) any non-clerical employee of the Company or its affiliates to be employed by, or to
perform services for, the grantee or any person with which the grantee is associated (including, but not limited to, employers, creditors, persons for whom the
grantee performs consulting work, and entities in which the grantee is a partner or equity owner) or any person from which the grantee receives direct or indirect
compensation or fees as a result of such solicitation, inducement or hire (or the identification for solicitation, inducement or hire) without, in all cases, written
authorization from the Company; (d) any attempt, directly or indirectly, to solicit in a competitive manner any current or prospective customer of the Company or
its affiliates without, in all cases, written authorization from the Company; (e) the grantee’s disparagement, or inducement of others to do so, of the Company or
its affiliates or their past and present officers, directors, employees or products; (f) without written authorization from the Company, the rendering of services for
any
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organization, or engaging, directly or indirectly, in any business, which is competitive with the Company or its affiliates, or the rendering of services to such
organization or business if such organization or business is otherwise prejudicial to or in conflict with the interests of the Company or its affiliates; or (g) breach
of any agreement between the grantee and the Company or an affiliate (including, without limitation, any employment agreement or non-competition or non-
solicitation agreement).
 
3.4 Nonassignability

(a) General. Except as expressly provided herein or by the terms of an award certificate: (a) no award or right granted to any person under the Plan or under
any award certificate shall be assignable or transferable other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution; and (b) all rights granted under the Plan or
any award certificate shall be exercisable during the life of the grantee only by the grantee or the grantee’s legal representative.

(b) Payment to Minors, Etc. Any benefit payable to or for the benefit of a minor, an incompetent person or other person incapable of receipt thereof shall be
deemed paid when paid to such person’s guardian or to the party providing or reasonably appearing to provide for the care of such person, and such payment shall
fully discharge the Committee, the Board, the Company, its affiliates and their employees, agents and representatives with respect thereto.
 
3.5 Requirement of Notification of Election Under Section 83(b) of the Code

If any grantee shall, in connection with the acquisition of shares of Common Stock under the Plan, make the election permitted under section 83(b) of the
Code (i.e., an election to include in gross income in the year of transfer the amounts specified in section 83(b)), such grantee shall notify the Company of such
election within 10 days of filing notice of the election with the Internal Revenue Service, in addition to any filing and notification required pursuant to regulations
issued under the authority of Code section 83(b).
 
3.6 Requirement of Notification Upon Disqualifying Disposition Under Section 421(b) of the Code

Each grantee of an incentive stock option shall notify the Company of any disposition of shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the exercise of such
option under the circumstances described in section 421(b) of the Code (relating to certain disqualifying dispositions), within 10 days of such disposition.
 
3.7 Withholding Taxes

(a) With Respect to Cash Payments. Whenever cash is to be paid pursuant to an award under the Plan, the Company shall be entitled to deduct therefrom an
amount sufficient in its opinion to satisfy all federal, state and other governmental tax withholding requirements related to such payment.

(b) With Respect to Delivery of Common Stock. Whenever shares of Common Stock are to be delivered pursuant to an award under the Plan, the Company
shall be entitled to require as a condition of delivery that the grantee remit to the Company an amount sufficient in the opinion of the Company to satisfy all
federal, state and other governmental tax withholding requirements related thereto. With the approval of the Committee, which the Committee shall have sole
discretion whether or not to give, the grantee may satisfy the foregoing condition by electing to have the Company withhold from delivery shares having a value
equal to the amount of tax to be withheld. Such shares shall be valued at their Fair Market Value as of the date on which the amount of tax to be withheld is
determined. Fractional share amounts shall be settled in cash. Such a withholding election may be made with respect to all or any portion of the shares to be
delivered pursuant to an award.
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3.8 Limitations Imposed by Section 162(m)

Notwithstanding any other provision hereunder, if and to the extent that the Committee reasonably determines the Company’s federal tax deduction in
respect of an award may be limited as a result of section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee may take the following actions:

(i) With respect to options or stock appreciation rights, the Committee may delay the exercise or payment, as the case may be, in respect of such
options or stock appreciation rights until the earlier to occur of (A) 30 days following the grantee’s termination of employment, but in any event during the
same calendar year as such termination of employment and (B) the date, as reasonably determined by the Company, that the Company’s federal tax
deduction in respect of the award will not be limited by reason of section 162(m), or such other date as may be specified under final regulations
promulgated pursuant to section 409A of the Code. In the event that a grantee exercises an option or stock appreciation right at a time when the grantee is a
162(m) covered employee, and the Committee determines to delay the exercise or payment, as the case may be, in respect of any such award, the
Committee shall credit cash or, in the case of an amount payable in Common Stock, the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock, payable to the grantee to
a book account. The grantee shall have no rights in respect of such book account and the amount credited thereto shall not be transferable by the grantee
other than by will or laws of descent and distribution. The Committee may credit additional amounts to such book account as it may determine in its sole
discretion. Any book account created hereunder shall represent only an unfunded, unsecured promise by the Company to pay the amount credited thereto to
the grantee in the future.

(ii) With respect to restricted stock, the Committee may require the grantee to surrender to the Committee any award certificates with respect to such
awards, in order to cancel the awards of such restricted stock. In exchange for such cancellation, the Committee shall credit to a book account a cash
amount equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock subject to such awards. The amount credited to the book account shall be paid to the
grantee on the earlier to occur of (A) 30 days following the grantee’s termination of employment, but in any event during the same calendar year as such
termination of employment and (B) the date, as reasonably determined by the Company, that the Company’s federal tax deduction in respect of the award
will not be limited by reason of section 162(m), or such other date as may be specified under final regulations promulgated pursuant to section 409A of the
Code. The grantee shall have no rights in respect of such book account and the amount credited thereto shall not be transferable by the grantee other than
by will or laws of descent and distribution. The Committee may credit additional amounts to such book account as it may determine in its sole discretion.
Any book account created hereunder shall represent only an unfunded, unsecured promise by the Company to pay the amount credited thereto to the
grantee in the future.

 
3.9 Certain Agreements

(a) Stockholders Agreement. The Committee may require as a condition to the receipt of shares of Common Stock pursuant to an award under this Plan that
the grantee or any other person receiving shares pursuant to the award execute and become a party to the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders
Agreement, effective as of January 11, 2007, and the Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, effective as of January 11, 2007 ,or such other
stockholders agreements, investors rights agreements or other documentation which shall set forth certain restrictions on transferability of the shares of Common
Stock acquired pursuant to such award and such other terms as the Board or Committee shall from time to time establish.

(b) Underwriting Agreement. Each grantee or other person receiving shares in respect of an award, if requested by the Company and the lead underwriter of
any underwritten public offering of the Common Stock (the “Lead Underwriter”), shall irrevocably agree not to sell, contract to sell, grant
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any option to purchase, transfer the economic risk of ownership in, make any short sale of, pledge or otherwise transfer or dispose of, any interest in any Common
Stock or any securities convertible into, derivative of, or exchangeable or exercisable for, or any other rights to purchase or acquire Common Stock (except
Common Stock included in such public offering or acquired on the public market after such offering) during such period of time following the effective date of a
registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”), as amended, that the Lead Underwriter shall specify (the
“Lock-up Period”). The grantee or such other person shall further agree to sign such documents as may be requested by the Lead Underwriter to effect the
foregoing and agree that the Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to Common Stock acquired in respect of an award until the end of such
Lock-up Period.
 
3.10 Employment Provisions

(a) Right of Discharge Reserved. Nothing in the Plan or in any award certificate shall confer upon any grantee the right to continue employment with the
Company or affect any right which the Company may have to terminate such employment.

(b) Confidentiality. The acceptance of an award by a grantee shall be deemed to be a covenant by the grantee that he or she will not disclose to anyone
outside the Company or its affiliates, or use in any manner other than in the furtherance of the Company’s or its affiliate’s business, without written authorization
from the Company, any confidential information or proprietary information relating to the business of the Company or its affiliates that is acquired by a grantee
prior to the grantee’s termination of employment.
 
3.11 Nature of Payments

(a) Consideration for Services Performed. Any and all grants of awards and issuances of shares of Common Stock under the Plan shall be in consideration
of services performed for the Company by the grantee.

(b) Not Taken into Account for Benefits. All such grants and issuances shall constitute a special incentive payment to the grantee and shall not be taken into
account in computing the amount of salary or compensation of the grantee for the purpose of determining any benefits under any pension, retirement, profit-
sharing, bonus, life insurance or other benefit plan of the Company or under any agreement between the Company and the grantee, unless such plan or agreement
specifically otherwise provides.
 
3.12 Non-Uniform Determinations

The Committee’s determinations under the Plan need not be uniform and may be made by it selectively among persons who receive, or who are eligible to
receive, awards under the Plan (whether or not such persons are similarly situated). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee shall be
entitled, among other things, to make non-uniform and selective determinations, and to enter into non-uniform and selective award certificates, as to (a) the
persons to receive awards under the Plan, (b) the terms and provisions of awards under the Plan, and (c) the treatment of leaves of absence pursuant to
Section 1.6(c).
 
3.13 Severability of Provisions

If any provision of this Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions hereof, and this
Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provisions had not been included.
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3.14 Securities Act Compliance

Except as the Company or Committee shall otherwise determine, prior to the completion of an underwritten public offering, this Plan is intended to comply
with Section 4(2) or Rule 701 under the Securities Act, and any provisions inconsistent with such Section or Rule of the Securities Act shall be inoperative and
shall not affect the validity of the Plan.
 
3.15 Other Payments or Awards

Nothing contained in the Plan shall be deemed in any way to limit or restrict the Company from making any award or payment to any person under any
other plan, arrangement or understanding, whether now existing or hereafter in effect.
 
3.16 Headings

Any section, subsection, paragraph or other subdivision headings contained herein are for the purpose of convenience only and are not intended to expand,
limit or otherwise define the contents of such subdivisions.
 
3.17 Effective Date and Term of Plan

(a) Adoption; Stockholder Approval. The Plan was adopted by the Board on January 25, 2007, subject to approval by the Company’s stockholders. All
awards under the Plan prior to such stockholder approval are subject in their entirety to such approval. If such approval is not obtained prior to the first
anniversary of the date of adoption of the Plan, the Plan and all awards thereunder shall terminate on that date.

(b) Termination of Plan. Unless sooner terminated by the Board or pursuant to paragraph (a) above, the provisions of the Plan respecting the grant of any
award pursuant to which shares of Common Stock will be granted shall terminate on June 30, 2012, and no such awards shall thereafter be made under the Plan.
All awards made under the Plan prior to the termination of the Plan shall remain in effect until such awards have been satisfied or terminated in accordance with
the terms and provisions of the Plan and the applicable award certificates.
 
3.18 Restriction on Issuance of Stock Pursuant to Awards

The Company shall not permit any shares of Common Stock to be issued pursuant to awards granted under the Plan unless such shares of Common Stock
are fully paid and non-assessable, within the meaning of Section 152 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, except as otherwise permitted by Section 153(c)
of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
 
3.19 Governing Law

Except to the extent preempted by any applicable federal law, the Plan will be construed and administered in accordance with the laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to principles of conflict of laws.
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Exhibit 15

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of MSCI Inc.:

We have reviewed, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial information of MSCI Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2011 and for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2011 and May 31, 2010, as
indicated in our report dated August 5, 2011; because we did not perform an audit, we expressed no opinion on that information.

We are aware that our report referred to above, which is included in your Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011, is incorporated by
reference in Registration Statement No. 333-167624 on Form S-8, Registration Statement No. 333-147540 on Form S-8, Registration Statement No. 333-165888
on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-159311 on Form S-3.

We also are aware that the aforementioned report, pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, is not considered a part of the Registration Statements
prepared or certified by an accountant or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of that Act.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
August 5, 2011



Exhibit 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Henry A. Fernandez, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MSCI Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s second fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2011
 

/s/ Henry A. Fernandez
Henry A. Fernandez
Chairman, CEO and President
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, David M. Obstler, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MSCI Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s second fiscal

quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2011
 

/s/ David M. Obstler
David M. Obstler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Henry A. Fernandez, Chairman, CEO and
President of MSCI Inc. (the “Registrant”) and David M. Obstler, the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his
knowledge:
 

1. The Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2011, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Periodic
Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 

2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Registrant at the end of the period
covered by the Periodic Report and results of operations of the Registrant for the periods covered by the Periodic Report.

Date: August 5, 2011
 
/s/ Henry A. Fernandez   /s/ David M. Obstler
Henry A. Fernandez
Chairman, CEO and President
(Principal Executive Officer)   

David M. Obstler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


